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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Review of Operations
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

OVERVIEW

During the 2064/5 year Caspian made significant progress towards becoming a dedicated and focused oil and gas
company. This involved:

»

Increasing its stake in the Kyrgyz Republic oil projects from 50% to 100% in October 2004 by acquiring
the balance of equity in Textonic Consulting Lid.

A change of name from Afminex Limited in November 2004 to reflect the new business and regional
focus.

A successful application for two new licences in the Ashvaz-Mailisu area te bring the total number of
Heences to 10, covering 16,500sg km.

A farmout effort aimed at introducing a major industry player to operate the licences and progress
exploration and development activities on them. This was successfully achieved with Santos International
Operations Pty Ltd (*“Santos™), a wholly owned subsidiary of Santos Limited (Australia’s second largest oil
and gas company) agreeing to carry Caspian, with a 20% equity, through a work program involving up to
USS28 million of expenditure.

Increasing the oif expertise in the Company through the hiring of two ex Novus petroleum geologists,
Michael Sandy (consuliant) and Andrei Sineinikov {now operations manager in the Kyrgyz Republic). Mr
Sandy also ioined the Caspian board in September 2005,

The floatation of Perseus Mining Limited, which was established to acquire Caspian’s two most
prospective West African gold projects and a number of Kyrgyz gold interesis. Pesseus listed on 22
September 2004 after raising approximately $3.7 million. It has enjoyed exploration success on a number
of projecis.

Progressing the sale or farmout of the remaining mineral interests and equipment.

KYRGYZ

REPUBLIC

Kyrgyz Republic — within a prolific oil pathway
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Review of Operations
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

Santos farmin

In September 2005 Santos International Operations Pty Lid (“Santos™), a wholly owned subsidiary of Santos
Limited, a major Australian oil and gas exploration and production company:

» farmed into Caspian’s oil projects in the Kyrgyz Republic;

» subscribed for 100 million fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of three cents per share, raising $§3
million; and

» subscribed for an additional 40 million fully paid shares at an issue price of five cents per share, raising an
additional $2 miHlion and taking its equity ia Caspian to 17.68%.

The farmin agreement provides for Santos to:
» sole fund, manage and operate staged work programs up 1o the value of US$28 million over all of the
licences to earn an 80% interest in those projects over a period of approximately four years; and

s pay a cash consideration of USS1 miilion for the purchase of the technical database relating to the Kyrgyz
operations.

Farm-in Arrangements

There are two separate facets of the proposed joiat veniure arrangement between Santos and Caspian — a farmin to
all of the licences, focusing on the deeper potential, and a farmin to the shallow potential of some of the northern
Fergana licences, subject 1o a review of those projects.

Sanios can incur staged expenditure of US$24 million as indicated below to earn an 80% interest in all of the
licences, excluding the shallow production potential down fo 1,000m depth on the northern Fergana licences of
Charvak, Ashvaz, Bast Mailisg and West Mailisu.

s  Minimum expenditure of US$3 million by 31 December 2006 on, amongst other things, field work and
data review, including the planning of a targeted 2D seismic program (Phase 13;

s Minimum expenditure of US$6 million by 30 June 2008 on 2D seismic and/or drilling of one or more wells
{Phase 2); and

s Minimum expenditure of US$135 million by 36 June 2069 on drilling programs (Phase 3).

At its sole discretion Santos may withdraw from the farm-in at the end of Phase 1 or end of Phase 2. If Santos
elects to withdraw before completing the USE24 million in expenditure it does not retain any equity in the oil
projects.

Santos will complete a feasibility study and determine whether it will participate in the development of the shallow
northern prospects by 31 January 2606, If it decides io proceed with the development, Santos must sole fund
expenditure of US$2 million by 31 December 2006 and a further US$2 million by 30 June 2068 o eam its 80%
eqguity. 1f Santos elects not to proceed, Caspian may develop these shallow structures on its own or farm them out
to another operator.

Since the end of the financial year, Casgpian has settled all cutstanding liabilities owing on the acquisition of the o
projects.
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Review of Operations
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

Oil seeps at Charvak

An exposed anticline at Ashvag highlights the potential for deeper Jurassic targ
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Review of Operations
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

OPERATIONAL ACTIVITIES

Kyrgyz Oil and Gas

Award of new licences

In April 2005 the Ashvaz/East Mailisu project was expanded by the acquisition of two adjoining cil exploration
licences covering approximately 660 sq km in area, taking Caspian’s oil acreage in the Kyrgyz Republic o

approximately 16,500 sg km.

The West Mailisu and North Mailisu Hicences were acquired affer a review of data on the Ashvaz/East Mailisu
project identified the potential for major structures to extend into the newly acquired ground.

The West Mailisu licence incorporates three new targets while the North Mailisu licence was acquired to give full
coverage of a large structure straddling the East Mailisu licence border.

There is enough well and seismic data over the West Mailisu licence project to compile a detailed structural map of
the area as a prerequisiie to drilling the various targets. The East/North Mailisu target will require seismic to
confirm the existence of the structure beneath overthrust Paleczoic rocks.

) North Mallisu PL

_ Ashvaz and
- East Maiirsu?k_s

KYRGYZ. Rﬁpuamc ic

Licences in the Kyrgyz Republic
Acquisition of Soviet era data.
Data acquisition is an ongoing project and Caspian recently discovered the existence of a considerable amount of
existing Soviet era seismic, especially over the Charvak and Sulutka licences. The quality of that data is vet to be
determined but it it proves to be useful it could save the Santos/Caspian joint venture the time and cost of acquiring
new seismic over those areas.

Field activities

Geological mapping programs by Caspian geologists identified a 4 way dipping anticline {Laglan) in the Ak Bura
licence.
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Review of Operations
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

Three Santos teams commenced work on the projects in September 2005, with two geological teams assessing the
deeper prospects and one team conducting a review of the production potential from shallow siructures on the
northern Fergana licences.

Test production of a few barrels per day is continuing from very shallow wells at Charvak, with oil sold at the near-
by Jalal Abad refinery operated by Petrofac.

Production facilities at Charvak

Analogue field analysis.

A review of existing fields in the basin was conducted to assist identifying large deep targets in Caspian’s acreage.
Of particular interest is the Mingbulak oil field focated in the central, deeper part of the Fergana Basin i
Uzbekistan, which exemplifies the potential for very large deep structures in the Fergana basin, located in the
middle of the basin in Uzbekistan at ~3,006m depth. Drilled in 1992-3, the first 4 wells generated strong oif flows
{up to 16,000 bbl/d) but unfortunately the fifth well blew cut and usloaded over one million barrels of oif. With
modern western style drilling this sort of environmental disaster can be avoeided in the future, but this does illusirate
the considerable potential for oil in the deeper section. The Caspian acreage in Kyrgyz Republic is oa the fringes
of the basin and therefore large structures can be expected to be located at shaliower depths than at Mingbulak.
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Review of Operations
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

Oil seeping from limestone reservoir rock at Ashvaz where the river action erodes the natural bitumen seal
Information on the Kyrgyz Republic

The Kyrgyz Republic is a democratic couniry with a presidential system of goverament. Presidential elections in
August 2005 were well supported by voters and endorsed by the internationat community.

There is a long history of encouragement to foreign investment (especially in the mining industry) and one of the
most favourable fiscal regimes i the world, with total tax take for petroleum projects of approximately 35%,
including a company tax rate of 20%. Foreign investors are given strong proteciion under Kyrgyz laws.

The Kyrgyz Republic is a member of the World Trade Organization. Bt has a free market economy and stable
currency with a floating exchange rate. Investors are free to transfer funds to and from the country and repatriate

profits.

(il can be sold to the Jalal Abad refinery, adjacent to the Charvak licence, or exported by rail to China or the Black
Sea. Bordering on China, the Kyrgyz Republic is well positioned to feed that couniry’s ravenous energy demands.

Production rates have dropped substantially following the break-up of the Soviet Union, to the extent that most oil
used in the Kyrgyz Republic is imported.
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Review of Operations
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

Information on the Kyrgyz Republic — continned
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Review of Operations
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

MINERAL PROJECTS

With Caspian’s focus on ils Kyrgyz Republic oil projects, its minerals agsets have been rationalized during the year
and this process is continuing.

Caspian’s twoe major gold projects in West Africa and a number of Kyrgyz gold projects were spun off info Perseus
Mining Limited in September 2004, Caspian retained a 39% equity in Perseus at the time of fisting, after Perseus
raised just over §3.7 million. Perseus has a number of high potential gold projects in major gold provinces and has
recorded some excellent exploration resulis during the year. This has transiated into interest from both investors
and major gold producers. Caspian’s stake in Perseus is escrowed until September 2006, lis market value was
around $5.1 miilion in late September 2005.

Perseus purchased the interest of a minority contributing party and farmed into Caspian’s position in the Kwaltechi
Joint Venture in Ghana. Caspian retains a 7% interest carried to feasibility in the project and can elect to convert
that interest 1o a 1.25% net smelier royalty. Perseus reported some high grade trench intersections in an interesting
structural setting in July 2605.

Caspian’s farm-in partner, Gold Fields has continued exploration on the Mangounia gold project in Guinea,
achieving encouraging drilling results from a target at least Skm long by approximately 1km wide that is open
along strike and trends into an area that has been subject to infensive artisanal mining over a number of vears.
Drilling has confirmed the existence of a 300m wide by at least lkim long mineralised zone grading in the range of
0.5g/t 1o 1.5g/t Au. Further south of this zone, gold mineralisation intercepted & narrower but higher in grade.
Results received to date from drilling include 76m (@1.28g/t, 74m (@ 1.24g/t and 5S1m @ 1.02g/t, 17m (@ 2.84g/t,
14m @ 2.72¢g/t Au, 6m (@ 1.83g/t Au. Most holes were mineralised over their entire length.

Caspian is carried on this project until Gold Fields has speat US$1.5 milion.

Documentation of a farmout of Caspian’s Congo diamond leases is at an advanced stage and interest has been
expressed in its Ghanaian diamond projects.

Efforts 1o dispose of Caspian’s remaining minor gold interest and a gold heap leach plant located in Ghana are
continuing.
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Directors’ Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

Your directors present their report together with the financial report of Caspian 0Oif & Gas Limited {“the Company™)
and its controlled entities, (collectively referred to as the “consolidated entity™), for the year ended 30 June 2005 and
the auditor’s repori thereon.

DIRECTORS

The names and details of the Directors in office during or since the end of the financial year are as follows. Directors
were in office for the entire year unless otherwise stated.

Reginald Norman Gillard BA FCPA FAICD JP - Non-Execufive Chairman
{Appeinted 6 July 1994)

After practising as an accountant for over 31 years, during which time he formed and developed a number of service
related businesses, Reg Gillard now focuses on corporate management, corporate governance and the evaluation and
acquisition of rescurce projects. Mr Gillard also serves on the audit commitiee of the Company. During the past
three yvears he has also served as a director of the following listed companies:

Moto Goldmines Limited®

Aspen Group Limited *

Lafayette Mining Limited *

Perseus Mining Limited * from 24 Getober 2003
Pioneer Nickel Limited * from 16 March 2065
AduliShop.com Limited ceased 12 September 2002
Global Doctor Limited ceased 24 January 2003

Wentworth Mutual Limited ceased 19 February 2004

Nana Prah Agyensaim VI - Non-Executive Joint Chairman
{Appointed 27 March 2002 and resigned 23 September 2005)

Nana Prah Agyensaim VI is the King of Assin Kushea in the Ceniral Region of Ghana, a Barrister-at-Law/Solicitor
of The Supreme Court of Ghana, a member of The Councit of State in Ghana, a Presidential adviser, a director of a
number of subsiantial Ghanaian companies and public authorities, Chairman of the Tema Development Corporation
{Tema being the most industrialised city in Ghasa) and a successful businessman. Prior to his resignation, Mr Prah
chaired the Company’s audit committee. During the past three years he has not served as a director of any Australian
listed companies.

Colin Jehn Carson CPA FCIS FCIM - Executive Director and Joint Company Secretary
{Appeinted 10 October 1994)

Colin Carson has been involved as a director and company secretary of a2 number of Australian public companies
since the early 1980s and is responsible for the operations of the Company, joint venture negotiations and corporate
and legal matters. Mr Carson also serves oa the audit commitiee of the Company. During the past three years he has
also served as a director of the following listed company:

Perseus Mining Limited * from 24 October 2063
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Directors’ Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

DIRECTORS - continued

Jiirg Walker - Non-Executive Director

{Appeinted 20 May 2002)

Jirg Walker is a European portfolio manager and investor. He has over 20 years experience in the Swiss banking
industry, operating his own porifolio management company afier leaving his position as senior vice president of a
private bank in Zurich several years ago. Bluring the past three years he has also served as a director of the following
listed companies:

Lafayette Mining Limited ceased 1 October 2063
UXC Limited ceased 27 November 2003
Union Resources Limited ceased 18 May 2005

Dr Alexander Becker PhD (Geology) - Executive Director
{Appeinted 18 February 2004)

Dr Becker has a PhD in siructural geology and tectonophysics. He has over 20 years experience in petroleum and
gold exploration, tectonics, stratigraphy and regional geology in Central Asia, particularly the Kyrgyz Republic. He
has an intimate kaowledge of the country’s geology, mining rules and regulations and has high level contacis with
Government bureaucrats. Dr Becker is in charge of the exploration and development work being undertaken on
various oil projects by the Company’s subsidiary, JSC Textonic, in the Kyrgyz Republic. During the past three years
he has also served as a director of the following listed company:

Perseus Mining Limited * from 20 May 2004

Michael John Sandy BSc (Hons) - Executive Director
{Appointed 23 Sepfember 2004)

Michael Sandy is a petroleum geologist with 30 years® resource industry experience. During the past three years he
has also served as a director of the following listed company:

Pan Pacific Petroleum NL * from 8 September 2604

Mark Andrew Calderwood resigned as an executive director in charge of mineral exploration on 8 July 2004,
following the Caspian Group’s spin off of gold assets into Perseus Mining Lid, where he now serves ag a director
and chief executive officer.

* denotes current directorship

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Susmit Mohanlal Shah
{Appointed 30 Apri 2003)

Susmit Shah is a Chartered Accountant with over 20 years experience. Over the last 12 years, Mr Shah has been
involved with a diverse raage of Australian public listed companies in company secretarial and financial roles.

Colin John Carson
{Appeinted 20 June 1994)

For details relating to Colin Carson, please refer to the details on Directors above.
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Directors’ Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate Structure

Caspian Oil & Gas Limited is a limited liability company that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. It has
prepared a consolidated financial report incorporating the entities that it conirolied during the financial year, which
are outlined in the following iHlustration of the group's corporate structure.
subsidiary in September 2004, following its initial offer of securities to the public, and thus it is not represented in

the following illustration of the group structure at vear end.

CASPIAN OIL & GAS LIMITED — GROUP STRUCTURE AT 30 JUNE 2005

CASPIAN OIL & GAS

LIMITED

HI%

160%

160%:

Dataloop Pty
Lid

HKWS

160%

Textonic
Consulting
Limited

Hotrock Okore
Enterprises Mining Pty
Pty Lid Ltd
HIO%
Leo Shield
Exploration
Ghana Lid
HIO%
160%
Koiina Elwyn
Resources Mining Co
iid * Lid

* Non-operating subsidiary
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Directors’ Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

PRINCIPAL ACTEVITIES

The principal activity of the consolidated entity during the course of the financial year was coatinued iavestment in
the oil sector leadiag to ownership of 100% of the oil projects in the Kyrgyz Republic in Ceniral Asia. During the
year, the Company continued the divestiment of a direct interest in mineral projects, with the former subsidiary,
Perseus Mining Ltd completing its initial public offer of securities and listing on the Australian Stock Exchange.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The consolidated loss after tax for the year ended 30 June 2065 was $699,897 (2004: §1.826,678). No dividends
were paid during the year and the Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share for the year was 0.1 cents (2004: 4.5 cents).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

A review of operations of the consolidated entity during the year ended 30 June 2005 is provided in the "Review of
Operations" immediately preceding this Directors” Report.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

Significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year were as foliows:

s In September 2004, the Company issued 20,000,006 shares at an issue price of 1.8 cents each, 1o raise
$360,000 in new equity capital for engineering studies on the Kyrgyz oil projects, preparation for joint
venturing of those projects, planning for seismic surveys, the continued collation of historic oilfield data and
ongoing operating expenses.

* In November 2004, the Company issued 24,600,000 shares af an issue price of 2.3 cents each, to raige
$552,000, to institutional clients of Far East Capital Pty L&d. The funds, after paying the costs of the issue,
were used for continued exploration and development work on the Kyrgyz oil projects, preparation for joiat
venturing of those projecis, and ongoing operating expenses.

s Ian November 2804, the Company issued 20,000,060 shares at an issue price of 4 cents each as part
consideration for the acquisition of the remaining 50% of the issued share capital in Textonic Consulting Litd.

e a January 2005, the Company issued 14,080,000 shares al an issue price of 4 cents each 1o raise $560,060 in
new equity capital for working capital and to fund the oil exploration on the Kyrgyz oil properties

s In February 2003, the Company issued 5,000,000 shares at an sssue price of 4 cents each to raise $200,000 in
new equity capital for working capital and to fund the oil exploration on the Kyrgyz oil properties.

s la June 2005, the Company issued 48,899,999 shares at an issue price of 2.2 cents each to raise a total of
$1,075,860 in new funds. The funds raised were used for payment to the vendors of the Kyrgyz Republic oil
interests, ongoing administraiive and overhead costs and cosés incurred in data collation and preparation for
the purposes of negotiating joint venture arrangements with regpect to some or all of the Kyrgyz oil interests.
The Company also issued 2,060,000 options io subseribe for ordinary shares af an exercise price of 5 cents
each during the period from 1 September 2005 to 31 March 2608 to Mr Andrei Sinelnikov, the Company’s
General Manager — Petroleurn as part of his remuneration package.
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Directors’ Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE

Since the end of the {mancial year to the date of this report no matler or circumstance has arisen which has
significanily affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those
operations or the state of affairs of the consolidated eniity in subsequent financial years, other than the matters
referred o below:

» In August 2005, the Company entered inte an agreement with Santos International Operations Pty Ltd
{“Santos™), a wholly owned subsidiary of Santos Limited, a major Asustralian oil and gas exploration aand
production company £0:

» farm ouf and joint venture its oil projects in the Kyrgyz Republic. Santos is required to incur
expenditure of USS28 million on the oil projects in order to earn an 80% interest in the oil projecis;
aad

» issue 106 million fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of 3 cenis per share to raise $3 miliion
and grast an option over an additional 40 million shares.

On 23 September 20035, the agreement with Santos was completed and Santos subscribed for 100 million
shares at 3 cents each and 40 million shares at 5 cents each for total subscription moenies of $35 million.
Santos will also pay US$! million for acquisition of Caspian’s technical database in relation to the
Kyrgyz oil projects and commence sole funding the exploraiion and development expenditure on the oil
projects.

A condition to the Santos agreement required the Company 1o seitle its outstanding labilities 1o the
vendors of the Kyrgyz oil projects immediately rather than on the deferred basis previously agreed with
the vendor. Consequently, the Company issued 30 mitlion fully paid ordinary shares on 23 September
2065 and made payment of USE2 miltion in full and final settlement of all liabilities to the vendor of the
oit projects on 29 September 2005.

s On 30 August 2005, the Company completed the placement of 58 million shares at an #sue price of 5 cents
per share for total subscription monies of $2.9 million. The Company also completed the allotmeat of 26
million options exercisable at 5 cents each as consideration for various corporate and techaical services
provided 1o the Company.

The subscription monies referred to above have been used / will be used for settlement of vendor liabilities,
feasibility studies for shallow oil production, general working capital and to assist with the identification and
assessment of complementary aew opportunities in the energy sector.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS

Santos, pursuant to the terms of its farmin agreement with Caspian, & conducting a feasibility study into the
production of oil from shallow reservoirs and witl decide by no later than 31 January 2006 whether it will continue
to develop those reservoirs under the joint venture. At the same time, Santos is developing a plaaned exploration

approach for the deeper targets, includiag field work, data review and planning of a targeted 2D seismic program.

The Company will investigate opportunities o acquire compiementary or strategic oil acreage aad will continue its
efforts to farm out or sell its non-core minerals assets.

Further commentary on activities over the forthcoming period is provided in the *Review of Operations™.
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Directors’ Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

The number of meetings of the Company’s Directors and the number of meetings aitended by each Director during
the year ended 30 June 2605 are:

Directors’ Directors’  Audit Committee Audit Commitiee
meetings held meetings meetings held meetings
during period of attended during period of aftended
office office

R N Giltard 6 6 1 1
N Przh Agyensaim V1 6 5 1 -
C J Carson 6 6 1 I
J Walker 6 4 - -
A Becker 6 5 - -

The audit committee consisied of Nana Prah Agyensaim VI (Chairman), R N Gillard and C I Carson.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

The interests of each Director in the shares and options of Caspian 0i & Gas Limited at the date of this Report are
as follows:

Fully Paid Options Over

Ordinary Shares Ordinary
Shares
R N Giliard 1,749,428 1,606,000
C I Carson 27,111,247 -
J Walker 89,978,610 500,000
A Becker - -
M J Sandy 1,600,000 5,600,000
SHARE OPTIONS

As at the date of this report, there are 35,460,000 options to subscribe for unissued ordinary shares in the Company,
comprising:

Number Exercise Expiry Date
Price
{cents)
Unlisted Options: 6,400,600 10 30 December 2003
3,606,000 dor53 31 December 2093 or 31 December 2066
2,606,000 3 31 December 2007
4,000,000 31 March 2008

LAh LA

20,606,000 30 November 2007
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Directors’ Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

SHARE OPTIONS — continaed

These options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other body
corporate. There are no options to subscribe for shares in any controlled entity.

Options ssued during the year are as follows:

+ 3000600 unlisted options were issued to Far East Capital Ltd for capital raising and corporate promotion
Services.

« 4000600 unlisted options were issued to M J Sandy & Associates Pty Lid, a consultant engaged to assist with
joint venture negotiations on the oil projects, strategic development and investor relations.

s 1500608 unlisted options were issued o Mr David Bay, the Company’s Chiel Financial Officer. These
options were cancelled during the year ending 30 June 2065 as Mr Bay was no longer employed by the
Company.

«  2.000,000 unlisted options were issued to Mr Andrei Sinelnikov, the Company’s General Manager, as part of
his remuneration package.

Options issued afier 30 June 2005 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

20,000,060 unlisted options were issued, as part payment of fees to a number of parties who have promoted
the Company in the investment community in Australia and overseas.

Further details of these options are provided in Note 18(c) to the financial statements.

No opticns were exercised io acquire shares in the Company during the financial year or since the vear-end.
REMUNERATION REPORT

This report outlays the remusneration arrangements in place for the directors of Casgpian Oif & Gas Limited. The
consofidated entity has one executive officer as defined under Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2081 (other
than executives who are also directors).

Remuneration philosophy

The Board reviews the remuneration packages applicable to the executive Directors and non-executive Directors on
an annual basis. The broad remuneration policy is to ensure the remuneration package properly reflects the
person’s duties and responsibilities and level of performance, and that remuneration is competitive in atiracting,
retaining and motivating people of the highest quality. Where necessary, independeat advice on the appropriateness
of remuneration packages is obtained.

Remuneration committee

The Compasny does not have a formally constituted Resmuneration committee of the Board. The Directors consider
that the Company is not of a size nor are iis affairs of such complexiiy as to justify the formation of a Remuneration
committee.

The Board assesses the appropriateness of the sature and amount of remuneration of directors and senior managers

on a periodical basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring
maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high guality board and management team.
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Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Directors’ Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

REMUNERATION REPORT continued
Remuanerafion structure

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of noa-executive Director and executive
Director remuneration is separate and distinet.

Neon-executive Director remuneration
Objective

The Board seeks to sel aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the Company with the ability to atfract
and retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is acceptable fo shareholders.

Structure

The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive Directors
shall be determined from time to time by a general meeting. As amount not exceediag the amount determined is
then divided between the directors as agreed. The latest determination was at a shareholders meeting on 17 January
1995 when the shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of $125,000 per year.

Director’s fees cover all main Board activities. Fees may also be paid to non-executive Directors for additional
consuliing services provided to the Company. Non-executive Directors are entitied 1o receive options {subject o
shareholder approval) as it is considered an appropriate method of providing sufficient reward whilst maintaining
cash reserves.

The Board reviews the remuneration packages applicable to the non-executive Directors on an anaual basis. The
Board considers fees paid to non-executive Directors of comparable companies when underiaking ihe aanual
review process. Remuneration packages include a mix of fixed remuneration and equity-based remusneration.
There is no separate profit-share plan. Options have been issued to directors and employees as an incentive and in
recognition of the fact that the fixed cash component of remuneration is comparatively modest. The ability 1o
exercise the options is conditional on the holder remaining in the Company’s employment. There are no other non-
cash benefits available to directors or employees.

The remuneration of the non-executive Directors for the year ending 30 June 2005 is detailed in Table 1 of this
report.

Senior Manager and Executive Director remuneration
Objective

The Company aims to reward executives with a level of remuneration commensurate with their position and
responsibilities within the Company and so as to:

» align the interests of the executive Directors with those of shareholders;
» link reward with ihe strategic goals and performance of the Company; and
s ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards.

Structure

Remuneration consists of the following key elements:

# Fixed remusneration
+ Variable Remuneration
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REMUNERATION REPORT continuned
Senior Manager and Executive Director remuneration - continued
Fixed remuneration

The level of fixed remuneration is set 50 as 1o provide a base level of remuneration, which is both appropriate o the
position and is competitive in the market.

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Board and the process consists of a review of companywide,
business unit and individual performance, relevant comparative remuneration in the market and internal and, where
appropriate, external advice on policies and practice. Where necessary independent advice on the appropriateness
of remuneration packages is obtained.

The fixed remuneration compoenent of the Executive Directors for the yvear ending 30 June 2065 is detailed in Table
1 of this report.
Variable remuneration — Long Term Encentive (*LTT)

Objective

The objective of the LTI plan is o reward executives and senior managers in a manner which aligns this element of
remuneration with the creation of shareholder wealth.

As such LTI grasts are only made to executives who are able to influence the generation of shareholder wealth and
thus have a direct impact on the Company’s performance.

Structure

LTI grants to executives are delivered in the form of options. The issue of options as part of the remuneration
packages of directors is an established practice of junior public listed companies and, in the case of the Company,
has the benefit of conserving cash whilst properly rewarding each of the directors and senior managers.

The remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior manager for the vear ending 30 June 2005 is detaited in
Table 2 of this report.

Emplovment agreements

Andrei Sinelaikov has entered inio an agreement with the Company to be emploved as General Manager -
Petroleum of the Company. The contract commenced oa T March 2005 and there is no specific termination date.

The terms of the present contract include:

Remuneration of $120,000 per annum paid monthly in arrears plus statutory superannuatiosn;
reasonable accommodation costs outside Australia;
medical evacuation and insurance cover; and

L]
»
»
» cither party can terminate the agreement by giving two months written nofice.
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REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Fable 1 Director and executive remuncratfion for the year ended 30 June 23035

Post
Primary Employment Equily
Director’s Salary / Super- Value of Options Total
Fees anszation {A)
h] $ h] $

Directors :
Reginald Gillard

20605 32,510 2,700 - 35,210

2604 43,442 2,700 5,000 51,142
Nana Prah Agyensaim V1
(resigned 23 September 2003)

20605 25,000 - - 25000

2604 40,000 - - 40,000
Colin Carson

20605 87,619 8.051 - 95,670

2004 126,000 12,000 - 138,000
Mark Calderwood
{resigned 8 July 2004)

20605 - - - -

2604 111,000 - 12,500 123,500
Jirg Walker

2005 20,000 - - 20,000

2004 25,000 - 2,500 27,500
Alexander Becker

2003 118,369 - - 118,369

2004 - - - -
Hans Radolf Moser
(resigned 23 November 2003)

2003 - - - -

2004 7,849 - 2,500 10,349
Total, all specilied directors

2005 283,498 10,751 - 294,249

2004 353,291 14,7060 22,5060 390,451
Specified Executive:
Andrei Sinelnikov (4}

2003 60,800 3.600 9,500 73,900

2004 - - - -
{A) The Tair value of options is calculated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes model and allocated to each reporting

period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. The value disclosed above is the portion of the fair value of the
options allocated to this reporting period.
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REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Table 2 Options granted as part of remuneratfion for the year ended 30 June 2605 (i sccordance with the
LTI plan)

Grant Grant Vesting Value per % of
date Number date option at Remuneration

grant date

Specified Executive

Andrei Sinelnikov 13 June 2005 2,000,600 | September 2005 | 0.475 cents 12.86 %

Based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model (using a risk free rate of 5.5%, a volatility rate of 50% and the
option exercise price of 5 cents), each option was notionally valued at 6.64 cenis. As the opiions are not
transterable, it was considered appropriate to adjust the notional value by a discount of 25%.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS

No indemnities have been given during or since the ead of the year for a person who is or has been a Director,
officer or an auditor of any entity within the conselidated entity and no insurance premiums have been paid or
agreed to be paid for insurance against a current or former officer's or auditor's liability or legal cosis.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIOGNS

The consolidated entity’s operations are not subject to any significant Australian environmental laws but its
exploration and development activities in West Africa and the Kyrgyz Republic are subject 1o environmental faws,
regulations and permit conditions. There have been no known breaches of environmental laws or permit conditions
while conducting operations in West Africa or the Kyrgyz Republic during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In recognising the need for the highesi standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of the
Company support and have adhered fo the principles of corporate governance. The Company’s corporate
governance statement is provided in this anaual report, following the Independent Audit Report.

AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

The auditor, HLB Mann Judd, has provided the Board of Directors with an independence declaration in accordance
with gection 367C of the Corporations Act 2061,

The independence declaration is attached to and forms part of this Directors’ Report.
There have been no non audit services provided during this year.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors.

e,

R N Gillard
Chairman
Perth, 30 September 2605
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Chartared Accountanis

Auditors’ Independence Declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Caspian Oil & Gas Limited for the year
ended 30 June 2005, 1 declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a) a0 coniraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the
audit; and
b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This dectaration is in respect of Caspian Oil & Gas Limited.

L éxﬂfﬁ?ﬁ//fa &

Perth, Western Australia N G NEILL
30 September 2005 Partner, HLB Mann Judd

HEE Mann Judd (WA Partnership)
15 Rheold Street West Perth 8005, PO Box 263 West Porth 8872 Western Austradia. DX 238 (Perth) Telephone +81 (08} 3487 0G77. Fax +81 (08} 3481 3686,

Emafl: hlb@mjwa.com.au. Website: hitpfwww hib.com.au
Pariners: lan H Barsden, Torry M Bloniansop, Lisa Chnsiodulon, Wayne M Clark, Lucie Di Glzlionardo. Colin & Emmof, Traver G Hoddy, Horman G Moil, Peiar Jf Spepciiiey

HLE Mann Judd {iVA Fartnershig) s 3 member of HL X Intarnational and the HLS Mann Judd Natlonal of @ firms
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Revenue [rom ordinary activities

Borrowing Expenses

Depreciation expense

Decrement in carrying value of plant & eguipment
Employee, directors and consuliants costs
Write-down of exploration expenditure

Reversal / (diminution) in value of investments
Reversal / {(diminution} in value of Toans to and
invesmments in controlled entities

Foreign exchange losses

Other sxpenses from ordinary activities

Expenses Trom ordinary activities

Share of net losses of associate accounted for using
the equity method - Textonic Consulting Limited

Share of net losses of associate accounted for using
the equity method - Perseus Mining Limited

Loss from ordinary acfivities before related
income tax expense

Income tax {expenseybenefit relating 1o ordinary
activities

Loss from ordinary activities after related income

tax expense
Net loss atiributable to outside equity interests

Net loss attributable to members of the parent
entity

Basic earnings/{loss} per share
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Consolidated Company
Nofes 2003 2004 2005 2004
$ b $ h]
2 2,035,245 570,568 31,623 432,337
3 {B4,444) - {B4,444) -
3 (316,932) £274.827) {9,587) £5,996)
3 (361,893) £266,789) - -
(1,0%1,683) £603,988) (645,772} £399.236)
15 (156,150) £167,274) - {20,060)
3 - 23,283 - 23,283
3 - - (1,371,584) 994,057
3 - {7.351) {75,586) £633,403)
3 {655,181) (1,043.684) (371,501) £402,162)
(2,526,283) (2,340.,630) (2,558,474) £443,397)
13({b) {41,213) £203,7G1) - -
13(b) (212,419) - - -
(744,670) (1,973,763) (2,526,851) (11,060)
5 - - - -
(744,670) (1,973,763) (2,526,851) {11,060)
21 44,773 147,085 - -
26 {699,897) (1,826,678) (2,526,851) {11,060)
1) (0.1) cents {0.5) cents



Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Statements of Financial Position
As At 30 June 2005

Current Assels

Cash assets
Receivables
Inventories
Other

Total Current Assets

Nan-Currenf Assefs
Receivables
Other financial assets

Investments accounted for using the equity method

Property, plant and equipment

Miceral interest acquisition, exploration and
development expenditure
Other

Total Non-Current Assels
Tofal Assefs

Current Liabilifies

Payables
Provisions

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Payables

Total Noa-Current Liabilities

Total Liabiities

Netf Aszefs

Equity

Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses

Total Parent Entity Interest

Outside equity interests

Total Equity

Nofes

10
H

12
13

14

15
H

16
17

18
19
20

21

Consolidated Company
2605 2004 2005 2064
$ $ $ $
498,335 667,774 461,881 186,016
158,985 86,652 17,899 19,490
881 - - -
2,451 15419 - -
660,572 769,845 479,780 205,566
- - 405,710 3,871,884
- 3,500 12,502,594 4,834,462
1,820,314 4,929,363 - -
893,684 1,340,907 27,631 8,220
16,176,736 998,190 36,503 16,210
81,656 - - -
12,972,430 7,273,960 12,566,438 8,730.716
13,633,062 7,983,803 13,446,218 8,936,222
742,263 844,816 629,470 667,066
21,059 19,354 15,668 14,054
763,262 864,170 649,138 681,120
2,517,799 78,924 2,445,139 -
2,517,799 78,924 2,445,139 -
3,281,061 943,094 3,894,277 681,120
16,351,941 7,040,711 10,351,941 8,255,162
76,501,397 65,877,707 70,501,397 65,877,767
589,060 589,000 589,000 589,060
(60,738,456) (60,038,559) (60,738,456) {38,211.,6063)

16,351,941 6,428,148 10,351,941 8,255,162
- 612,563 - -
16,351,941 7,040,711 10,351,941 8,255,162
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Statements of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

Noies

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash receipis in the course of operations
Cash payments in the course of operations
Interest paid

Interest received

Net Cash used in Operating Activities 25(a)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Payments Tor exploration and development expenditure
Payments Tor property, plant and equipment

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Acguisition of preference shares in unlisted entity 13{e)
Acquisition of ordinary shares in unlisted entity

Payments for shares and options in listed entities

Proceeds on disposal of investments

Reimbursement of expenditure by IV Partner

Repayments by controlled entities

Advances to controlled entities

Decrease in cash due to deconsolidation of Perseus Mining Ltd
Increase in cash due to acquisition of Textonic Consulting Ltd

Net Cash used in Investing Aetivities

Cash Flows from Financing Activifies

Proceeds from share issues - outside equity interests
Proceeds from share issues
Share issue expenses

Net Cash provided by Financing Activities

Nef Increase/{Decrease} in Cash Held
Cash at the beginning of the financial year

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on the balances of cash
held in foreign currencies

Cash at the end of the Financial Year 8
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Coasolidated Company
2605 2004 2005 2084
$ $ h] h]

30,234 165,086 - 36,603
(1,248,454 (1,225,410}  (880,009) (5374.411)

(79,628} - {79,628) -

32,703 16,217 10,241 9,602
(1,265,145 (1,044,107  (949.396)  (528,206)

{132,761y  (149,304) {14,293) -
(30,466} {18,236} {28,998) {1,500)

150,975 15,384 - -

- (470,325} - -
(1,084,111 (2149967 (1,084,111) (214,996}
- £33,7083 - {3,583)

21,898 382,373 21,090 247,384

- 37,805 - -

- - 146,919 168,391
- - (431,532  {750,309)

(402,823 - - -

17,616 - - -
(1,460,488)  (451.607) (1,390,925)  {334,615)

- 759,648 - -

2,747,808 640,200 2,747,800 649,200
{124,838) £21,6205  (124,830) (21,620)

2,622,976 1387228 2,622,970 627,580
102,655y  (107.886) 282,649 (455,241

607,774 719,161 186,016 642,984
{6,784} (3,501) {6,784) (1,727)

498,335 607,774 461,881 186,016




Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 which includes applicable Australian Accounting Standards and other
authoritative pronouncements of the Accounting Sfandards Beard. Other mandatory professional reporting
requirermnents {Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views) have also been complied with. The financial report covers
the consolidated entity of Caspian Oil & Gas Ltd (the “Company™) and conirolled entities, and the Company as an
individual parent eniity. Caspian Oil & Gas is a listed public company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

The financial report has been prepared on an aceruals basis and does not take into account changing money values
or, except where stated, current valusations of non-current assets. Cost is based on the fair values of the
consideration given in exchange for assets.

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the consolidated entity in the
preparation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are those of the consolidated entity, comprising the parent entity and all
entities which the Company conirolied from time to time during the year and at balance date.

All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in the coasolidated entity, including any unrealised
profits or fosses, have been eliminated on consolidation.

Where controlled entities have entered or left the consolidated entity during the year, their operating results have
been included from the date control was obtained or until the date control ceased.

The financial reports of controiled entities are prepared for the same reporting year as the Company, usiag
consistent accounting policies.

Foreign Currency

Transactions ia foreign currencies of entities within the consolidated entity are converted to local currency at the
rate of exchange ruling at the date of the fransaction. At balance date amounts payable and receivable in foreign
currencies are translated fo Australian currency al rates of exchange current at that date. Resulting exchange
differences are recognised in determining the result for the year.

As the foreign conirolled entities are dependent on the parent entity, their monetary assets and liabilities are
translated into Australian currency at rates of exchange at balance date. Non-monetary assets are franslated at
historical rates at the time of the transaction and revenues and expenses are translated at the average of rates ruling
during the year. Resulting exchange differences are broughi to account in determining the profit or loss for the
year.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognised at fair value of the consideration received net of the amount of goods and services tax
(GS8T). Exchanges of goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash consideration are not
recognised as revenues.

Interest revenue is recognised as it acerues, taking into account the effective yvield on the financial asset.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Revenue Recognition - continued

The gross proceeds of non-current asset sales are included as revenue at the date conirol of the asset passes to the
buyer. The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the
time of disposal and the net proceeds on disposal.

Taxes

Income taxes

Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is
calculated on the accounting profit afier aliowing for permanent differences. To the extent timing differences oceur
between the time items are recognised in the financial statements and when items are taken into account in
determining taxable income, the net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates, is disclosed as a
future income tax benefit or a provision for deferred income tax. The net future income tax benefii relating fo tax
losses and fiming differences is not carried forward as an asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being
realised.

Gloods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred
is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense as applicable.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amousat of GS8T included.

The net amount of GST recoverabie from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or
payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST componenis of cash flows
arising from investing and financing activities that are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are

classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payvable to, the
taxation authority.

Cash and Cash Equivalenis

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash includes:
» cash on hand and at call deposits with banks or financial iastitutions, set of bank overdrafis; and
s invesiments in money market instruments which are readily convertible 1o cash on hand.
Receivables

Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amounts due fess provision for doubtful debts. An estimate
for deubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are writien-off as
incurred.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Acquisition of Assets

The cost method of accounting & used for all acquisitions of assets regardless of whether shares or other assets are
acquired. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets given up at the date of acquisiiion plus costs incidental
to the acquisition.

Recoverable Amouant of Non-Current Assefs Valued on Cost Basis

The recoverable amount of an assel is the net amount expected to be recovered through the net cash inflows arising
from its continued use and subsequent disposal.

The carrying amounts of non-current assets valued on the cost basis, other than mineral inferest acquisition,
exploration and development expendifure carried forward, are reviewed annually to determine whether they are in
excess of their recoverable amount at balance date. 1f the carrying amount of a non-current asset exceeds its
recoverable amouni, the agset is writien down to the lower amount. The write-down is expensed in the period in
which it cceurs.

In assessing recoverable amount of non-current assets, the relevant cash flows have not been discounted to their
present value except where specifically stated.
Inrvestments

Investments in associates are carried at the lower of the equity-accounted amount and recoverable amount in the
consolidated financial report and the lower of cost and recoverable amount in the Company’s financial report.

All other nen-current investinents are carried at the lower of cost and recoverable amouni.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plaat and equipment are included at cost and, except for freehold land, are depreciated over their
estimated useful fives commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Depreciation is provided using the
straight line method for all property, plant and equipment. Estimated useful lives of between three and ten years
have been used in the caleulation of depreciation for plant and equipment.

Mineral Interest Acquisition, Exploration and Development Expenditure

Mineral inferest acquisition, exploration and development expenditure is accumulated separately for each area of
interest.  Such expenditure comprises acquisition costs, direct exploration and development costs and an
appropriate portion of related overhead expenditure, but does not include general overheads or administrative
expenditure not having a specific nexus with a particular area of interest.

Revenue received from the sale or disposal of produet, materials or services during the exploration and evaluation
phase of operations is offset against expenditure in respect of the area of interest or mineral resource concerned.

Exploration and evaluation costs are carried forward where right of tenure of the area of interest is current and they
are expected to be recouped through sale or successful development and expioitation of the area of inferest, or,
where exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not vet reached a stage that permits
reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves.

Exploration and development expenditure, which does not satisfy the above criferia is wriiten off.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Joint Ventures

Joint venture interests are incorporafed in the financial statements by including the consolidated entity’s proportion
of joint venture assets and liabilities under the appropriate headings.

Where part of a jomnt venture is farmed out and in consideration the farminee undertakes fo carry out further
expenditure in the joial venture area of interest, expenditure incurred prior to farmout is carried forward without
adjusiment uniess the terms of the farmout indicate that the expenditure carried forward is excessive based on the
diluted interest retained. Provision is then made to reduce expenditure carried forward to a recoverable amount.

Any cash received in consideration for farming out part of a joint venture interest is treafed as a reduction in the
carryving value of the related mineral property.
Payables

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the consolidated entity becomes obliged to make
future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services. Amounts are unsecured and are usually paid
within 30 days of recognition.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when there is a legal, equitable or constructive obligation o make a future sacrifice of
economic benefits as a result of a past event, it is probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be
required, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Empiovee Benefits

Provision is made for the Company’s liability for wages aad salaries, annual leave and long service leave arising
from services rendered by employees to the reporting date. Liabilities so arising and expecied to be setiled within
twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates, which are
expected to be paid when the Hability is setiled.

Contributions are made by the consolidated entity fo superannuation funds as stipulated by statutory requirements
and are charged as expenses when incurred.

The Company has granted options to certain employees. Other than the costs incurred in administering the issue of
options, which are expensed as incurred, the value of options granted is not being recognised as an employee
benefits expense.

Contributed Equity
Isgued capital is recognised at the fair value of the coasideration received by the company.

Transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the share
proceeds received.

Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the net result attributable to members, adjusted 1o exclude costs

of servicing equity {other than dividends), by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any
bonus element.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Earnings per Share - continued

Diluted earnings per share is determined by dividing the net result attributable fo members, adjusted to exclude
costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and any expenses associated with dividends and interest of dilutive
potential ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares (both issued and potentially dilutive)
adjusted for any bonus element.

Segment Reporting

Segment revenues and expenses are those directly atfributable to the segments and include any joint revenue and
expenses where a reasonable basis of allocation exists.

Segment assets include all assets used by a segment and consist principally of cash, receivables and property, plant
and equipment net of accumuiated depreciation. Whilst most such assets can be directly attributed to individaal
segments, the carrying amount of certain assets used joinily by two or more segments is allocated to the segments
on a reasonable basis. Segment liabilities consist principally of accounts payable, employee entitlements, accrued
expenses, provisions and borrowings. Segment assets and liabilities do not include deferred income taxes.

Where segment revenues and expenses include transfers between segments, these are at the same rates which would
apply to parties outside the consolidated entity on an arm’s length basis. These transfers are eliminated on
consolidation.

Emplementation of Australian Equivalents of International Financial Reporting Standards (*AIFRS")

The Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) is adopiing International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) for application to reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2065, The AASB has issued Australian
equivalents to 1FRS, and the Urgent Issues Group will issue absiracts corresponding to International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) interpretations originated by the International Financial Reporting Inierpretations
Committee or the former Sianding Interpretations Committee.

The adoption of AIFRS will be first reflecied in the consolidated entity’s financial statements for the half-year
ended 31 December 20035 and the year ending 30 June 2006.

Entities complying with AIFRS for the first time will be required 1o restate their comparative financial statements
to amounts reflecting the application of AIFRS to thai comparative period. Most adjustments required on transition
to AIFRS will be made, retrospectively, against opening retained earnings as at 1 July 2004.

The consolidated entity’s management has analysed the significance of the expected changes and has identified a
number of accousnting policy changes that will be required. In some cases choice of accousnting policies are
available, including elective exemptions under Accounting Standard AASB 1 First — time Adoption of Australian
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards. Some of these choices are still being analysed o
determine the most appropriate accounting policy for the consolidated entity.

The known or reliably estimable impacts on the financial report for the year ended 30 June 2005 had it been
prepared using AIFRS are set out below. The expected financial effects of adopting AIFRS are shown for each key
area. Although the adjusiments disclosed in this note are based on managements’ best knowledge of expected
standards and interpretations, and current facts and circumstances, these may chaange due to:

# Amended or additional standards or inferpretations may be issued by the AASB and the [ASB; and

# Emerging accepted practice in the interpretation and application of AIFRS and Urgent Issues Group
(‘UKG?) Interpretations.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Hmplementation of Australian Equivalents of International Financial Repeorting Standards (*AIFRS’) -
continued

Therefore, uniil the consolidated entity prepares its full AIFRS financial statements, the possibility cannot be
excluded that the major chaages shown below may have io be adjusted.

Equity-based compensation benefits

Under AASB 2 Share-based Payment, equity-based compensation to empioyees will be recognised as an expense in
respect of the services received.

The consolidated entity has elected to adopt the exemption under AASB | First — time Adoption of Australian
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards and has not valued options issued to employees after 7
November 2002 which vested before 1 January 2005, Under AASB 2 Share-based Payment, equity-based
compensation to employees that vested afier | January 2605 will be recognised as an expense in respect of the
services recetved. This will result in a change to the current accounting policy, under which no expense is
recognised for equity-based compensation.

Management have estimated an expense of $143,600 will be required to be recognised in the statement of financial
performance for the year ended 30 June 2003 with a corresponding credit made 1o an opiion reserve in equity for
comparative purposes.

Impairment of Assets

Under Accounting Standard AASB 136 ‘Impairment of Assets’, the recoverable amount of an asset is determined
as the higher of net selling price and value in use. This will resuli in a change in the Company’s current accounting
policy, which determines the recoverable amount of an asset on the basis of undiscounted cash flows.

Management do not believe that any assets were impaired on transition or at 30 June 2605.
Income 1axes

Currently, the consolidated entity adopts the lability method of tax effect accounting whereby the income tax
expense is based on the accounting profit adjusted for any permanent differences. Timing differences are currently
brought to account as either a provision for deferred income tax or future income tax benefit. Under the Australian
equivalent to TAS 12, the consolidated entity will be required to adopt a balance sheet approach under which
temporary differences are identified for each asset and liability rather than the effects of the timing and permanent
differences between taxable income and accouniing profit.

Under AASB 112, carried forward tax losses are recognised to the extent to which it is probable that sufficient future
assessable income will be derived against which such losses may be offset. Current accounting policy requires the
realisation of sufficient assessable income o be virtually certain.

Management do not believe thai there will be any significant impact in terms of the statement of finaacial position
or performance.

The above should not be regarded as a complete Hst of changes in accountiag policies that will result from the
transition 1o AIFRS, as not all standards have been analysed as yet, and some decisions have not yet been made
where choices of accouating policies are available. For these reasons it is not yet possible to quantify all of the
impacts of the transition to AIFRS on the consolidaied entity’s financial position and reported resulis.
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Note
2. REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
Revenues from operating activities
Rendering of services revenue
Revenue from oil production

Revenues from cutside operating activities

Interest - other parties

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment

Profit from sale of mineral tenements

Proceeds from sale of listed investments

Foreign currency exchange gains 3by
Gain due to deconsolidation of Perseus Mining Limited

Rovyalty Income

Other

Total revenue from ordinary activities

3. LOSS FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Loss from ordinary activities before income tax has been
determined affer:

(a) Expenses

Interest paid - Textonic Consulting Lid acquisition
Depreciation of plant and equipment

Decrement in carrying value of plant and equipment

Foreign exchange losses 3(b)
Mineral interest acquisition, exploration and development
expenditure written-off

Diminution/{reversaly in value of investments in other
entities

Diminution/(revessal} in value of loans to and investments in
controlled entities

Movement in provision for employee entitlements

Other expenses include:

West Aftican administrative and overhiead costs

Auditors” remuneration 4
Travel and accommodation

Carrying amount of assets sold

ASIC and ASX fees

Share issue expenses-Perseus Mining Lid initial public offer
(b} Losses/(pains)

Net foreign currency exchange (gainsylosses

{Profit)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment

(Profit)/loss on sale of investments
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Consolidated Company
2605 2604 2005 2064
$ $ h] $
15,436 137,320 - 57,575
2,157 - - -
17,587 137,320 - 57,575
32,595 14,529 10,533 6,416
150,976 15,384 - -
- - - 160,000
21,6898 382,373 21,050 247,384
31,516 - - -
1,674,385 - - -
106,302 - - -
- 20,962 - 20,962
2,017,658 433,248 31,623 374,762
2,035,245 576,568 31,623 432,337
84,444 - 84,444 -
316,532 274,827 9,587 5,996
301,893 260,789 - -
- 7.351 75,586 633,403
156,150 167,274 - 20,900
- {23,283} - (23,283)
- - L3TL584 {994.057)
1,705 473 3,614 5,331
39,806 367,862 - -
37,111 36,838 20,250 19,800
218,685 166,038 182,24 74,546
48,752 222,541 6,080 144,325
69,873 40,427 53,440 39,562
- 84,722 - -
(31,516) 7.351 75,586 633,403
(108,224} (13,154) - 868
(158983 {162,062)  (15,090) {103.927)



Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

4. AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

Audit services:

Auditors of the company ~ HLB Mann Judd
Othier auditors

Other services:

5.
(a)

{b)

Auditors of the company ~ HLB Mann Judd

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The prima facie tex benelit at 30% on loss from
ordinary activities is reconciled to the income tax
provided in the financial statements as follows:
Loss from ordinary activities
Prima lacie income tax benefit @ 30%
Tax effect of permanent differences:
Equity accounted losses of associate entity
Textonic Consulting
Equity accounted losses of associate entity —
Perseus Mining Limited
Provision for non-recovery of loans and write-
down in investments in controlled entities
Foreign exchange (losses) not deductible
Foreign exchange gains not assessable
Gain due to deconsolidation of Perseus Mining
Limited
Profit on sale of investments against capital losses
Write-down in value of investments
Othier non-deductible items

Income tax benefit adjusted Tor permanent differences
[ncome tax benefit not brought to account
Income tax attributable to operating losses

The potential future income tax benefits arising from
tax losses and timing differences have not been
recognised as an asset because recovery ol tax losses
is not virvally certsin and recovery of timing
differences is not assured beyond any reasonable
doubt:

Australian tax losses
Foreign tax losses

Australian capital losses
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Consolidated Company
2005 2604 2005 2004
h] $ s b

22,125 19,809 20,250 19,800
14,986 12,038 - -
37,111 31,838 20,250 19,800
- 5,000 - -
37,111 36,838 20,250 19,800
744,672 1,973,763 2,326, 11,060
223,402 592,129 758,07 3,318
(12,364) (61,110} - -
(63,726} - - -
- - (411,475) 278,717
- (2,206y  (22,676)  {190,021)
9,573 - - -
502,316 - - -
4,527 - 4,527 67,467
- 6,985 - 26,485
(58,808) (185934} (33,358) {11.361)
604,520 340,864 295,073 174,665
{604,528) (3498643 (295,073)  (174,665)
1,160,229 865,156 1,160,229 865,156
5837418  5,547.571 - -
10,106,208 10,106,929 16,100,260 10,100,929
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5. INCOME TAX EXPENSE - continued
The future income tax benefits will only be obtained if the conditions in Note 1 {Income taxes) are satisfied and ift

a) the consolidated entity derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit
from the deductions for the losses 1o be realised;

b) the consolidated entity continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the relevant tax
fegislation;

¢} no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated entity in realising the benefit from the deductions for
losses.

For the purposes of income tax, Caspian Oil & Gas Lid and its 100% owned Australian subsidiavies intend to form a 1ax
consolidated group. At the date of signing the financial report, Caspian OH & Gas Ltd has not determined the date of entry
ito tax consolidation because this decision will be based upon the most favourable outcome in terms of the transitional rules
in the tax consolidation legislation. The date of entry will be determined by December 31 2605,

As part of the entry into consolidation, it is anticipated that members of the group will enter into a tax sharing arrangement in
order to allocate income tax expense to the wholly-owned subsidiaries on a pro-rata basis. In addition, it is anticipated that the
agreement will provide for the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the parent entity defanlt on its
tax payments obligations.

Tax consolidation is not expected to have a material effect on the group’s future income tax benefil.

No adjustments have vet been made 1o reflect the Company’s possible intention to form a consolidated tax group.

Consolidated
2005 2084
cents cents
6. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings/{loss} per share (0.1} £0.5)
2005 2084
No. No.
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calenlation of basic eamings per share 484,292,082 399,175,939

The Company’s potential ordinary shares, being its options granted, are not considered diutive as the conversion of these
options would result in a decrease in the net loss per share.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The consolidated entity operated principally in three business segments {primary reporting segments} being investing, mineral
exploration and oll exploration, and three geographical segments (secondary reporting segments), namely Australia, West
Africa and Central Asia. The segment information is prepared in conformity with the accounting policies described in Note 1.

Business Segments (Primary Segment)

The consolidated entity comprises the following main business segments:

Investing Investing in equities, cash management and corporate management.
Minecal Exploration Mineral exploration, predominantly for gold in West Africa.
Oil Exploration Oil exploration in Central Asia.

Geographical Segments (Secondary Segment)

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue, expenses and assels are based on the
geographical location of the operations.

The consolidated entity operates in the following geographical segments:

Australia Investing activities and corporate management.
West Africa Mineral exploration activities.
Central Asia Ol exploration activities.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

Investing Mineral Exploration Oil Eliminations Consolidated
Exploration
2005 2004 2805 2004 2085 004 2085 2004 2005 2004
3 $ & 3 $ & 3 3 3 3
Business segments {Primary Segment)
Revenue
Revenue from external customers - - 13,519 137,320 4,068 - - 17,587 137,320
Other external revenue 1,745,559 417,744 264,325 15,504 1734 - - 2,017,658 433,248
[ntersegment revenue - 43 0400 - - - - {43, 0600% - -
Total segement revenue 1,745,559 462,744 277,844 152,824 11,802 - {435,080 2,035,245 370,568
Results
Operating loss before income tax 413,262 {329,415} {873,429 (1,240,647} {284,503) (203,761 - 144,670y (1,973,763}
[neome tax expense - -
Net foss 144,670y (1.973.763)
Assefs
Segment assets 2,327,729 548,400 1,006,824 2,506,042 1,298,449 4,528,363 - 13,633,082 7.583.803
Noun-current assets acquired 1,849,312 17,567 41,493 15,033 10,210,735 74,067 - 12,101,544 1341607
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 256,670 166,879 172,812 208,168 2,851,579 368,047 - 3,281,061 G43,094
Gther segment information
Depreciation 12,575 8,698 290,915 266,129 13,441 - - 316,932 274.827
Non-cash expenses other than depreciation 5,614 {17,952} 453,259 436,557 875 - - 459,748 418,605
Share of net profit(loss) of equity accounied
investments - - 212,419 - 41,213 203,78 - 153,632 2037801
Equity accounted investments included in segment
assets 1,820,314 - - - - 4,528,363 - 1,820,314 4,519,363
Australia West Africa Central Asia Eliminations Consolidated
2005 2004 2005 2004 2085 2004 2085 2004 2005 004
k] k] 5 5 3 k] 3 3 b b
Geographical segments (Secondary Segment)
Segment revenue 1,745,559 475,319 277,844 140,249 11,802 - {45.000) 2,035,245 376,568
Segment assets 2,327,729 537,243 1,006,824 2.388.680 10,298,445 3,057,882 - 13,633,082 7,983,805
Gther segment information
Nos-current assels acquired 1,840,312 FL307 41,493 {50,033 10,210,735 1,174,607 - 12,161,544 1,341,607
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Consolidated Cempany
2605 20604 2005 2004
$ $ h] $
8. CASH ASSETS
Casl assets 396,470 285,487 368,016 103,648
Deposits at call 181,865 322,287 101,865 82,368

498,335 607,774 461,881 186,016

9. RECEIVABLES

Current
Trade debtors 168,440 21,349 - 4,317
Sondry debtors 50,465 65,103 17,899 15,173

158,905 86,652 17,895 15,496

Non-current
Loans to controlled entities - - 16,838583 20,363,008
Provision for non-recovery of loans 10 controfled entities - (16,432,873) (16,491,124

- - 405,718 3,871,884

Terms and conditions relating 1o the above financial
instruments:
- Trade and sundry debtors are non-interest bearing and
generally on 30 day terms.

- Loan advances have been made to wholly owned
controlled entities. The loans are interest free,
unsecured and repayable only when the borrower's
cash flow permits.

1. INVENTORIES

Raw materials and stores - at cost 881 - - -
i1. OFHER

Cuarrent

Prepayments 2,451 15416 - -

Non-cuarrent

VAT Withheld 81,696 - - -

- VAT has been withheld in the Kyrgyz Republic and is
only refundable when the Kyrgyz companics
commence generating revenues. For that reason the
amounts have been classifted as non-current.
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i2. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

Investments in securities listed on a prescribed stock exchange - at
cost (note a)

Provision for diminution

Investment in associated entities - ordinary shares ai cost

lavestment in associated entities listed on a prescribed stock
exchange - ordinary shares at cost (note 12 {d}))

Investment in controlled entities - unlisted shares at cost {note b}

Provision for diminution

{a) Aggregate quoted market value at balance date of
investments Hsted on a prescribed stock exchange:

{b) Particulars in relation to controlled entities

Name of controlled entity Notes incl;:'f;n{;z'zzioxr
Parent Entity

Caspian Oil & Gas Limited Australia
Controlled entities

Datalcop Pty Lid Australia
Hotrock Enterprises Pty Ltd Australia
Okore Mining Pty Lid Australia
Leo Shield Exploration Ghana Lid (i) (a} Ghana
Textonic Consolting Limited (a} Canada

{il Controlled entities of Leo Shield Exploration Ghana Ltd

Elwyn Mining Company Lid (a} Ghana

Kojina Resources Lid (a} Ghana
(fi} Controlled enfities of Textonic Consulting Limifed
ISC Textonic

ISC Sherik
Notes: {a) Notaudited by FILB Mann Judd.

{c) Controlled entity acquired

Consolidated Company
2605 2604 2005 2004

$ $ h] $
- 24,645 - 24,045
- £18.545) - {18.545)
- 5,500 - 5,560
- - - 2,805,317
- - 2,032,733 -
- - 2,032,733 2,805,317
- - 114,719,863 3,273,587
- - {1,250,082) (1,250.,002)
- - 18,469,861 2,023,585
- 350G 12,502,564 4,834,402
- 5500 3,609,196 5,500

Consolidated Entity Interest

(ay Kyrgyz Republic
(ay Kyrgyz Republic

2008 2084
%Yo Yo
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 50
180 106
180 106
180 50
180 50

In October 2004, the Company increased its interest in the share capital of Textonic Consulting Lid from 50% to 160%.
Consequently from that time, Textonic ceased 10 be accounted for as an associate and has become part of the consolidated

entity. Please refer to Note 25 (b} for details of the acquisition.
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12. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS - continued
{d) Loss of control of subsidiary

In October 2003, Perseus Mining Limited was incorporated as a 100% subsidiary of Caspian Oil & Gas Limited. During the
period to 30 June 2004, Perseus raised a further $759,648 as equity capital from third parties. Consequently, Caspian Oil &
Gas’s shareholding in Perseus was reduced to 58% at 39 June 2004. Through the successtul completion of Perseus’s initial
public offer of securities in September 2004, the Company’s shareholding reduced to 39 % at 30 June 2005 and it ceased to he
accounted for as a controlled entity of the Company from September 2004 onwards.

Consolidated Cempany
2805 2804 2005 26804

$ $ h] $

13. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

lavestment in Perseus Mining Limited - ordinary shares 1,820,314 - - -
lavestment in unlisted entity - ordinary shares - 2,590,280 - -
lnvestment in unlisted entity - preference shares - 2,339,683 - -
Total equity accounted investment 1,820,314 4,926,363 - -

Ownership Interesi

Name of associated entity Tyvpe of Equity 2805 2004 Balance Daie

Perseus Mining Limited Ordinary shares 38% N/A 30 June 2005

Textonic Consulting Limited Orcdinary shares N/A 50% 30 June 2005

Textonic Consulting Limited Preference shares N/A 50% 30 June 2005

{a) Principal activities of associated companies

{i} Perseus Mining Limited is a Hsted Australian company involved in mineral exploration, principally gold, in West

Africa and the Kyrgyz Repuoblic.

{H) Textonic Consulting Limited is a Canadian holding company, whose wholly owned Kyrgyz subsidiary, ISC Textonic,
owns ten ol projects covering over 16,500 sq km of permit arcas located mainly around the established Fergana
Basin oil province.

Consolidated Entity

2605 2004
$ $

(b} Carrying amount of investment in assoctate —~ Perseus Mining Limited

Balance at the beginning of the financial year - -

Balance transferred on loss of control of subsidiary 2,023,585 -

Further acquisition costs recognised 9,648 -

Written down value of shares disposed (5680) -

Share of associale’s net loss Tor the relevant period 212,419 -

Carrying amount of investment in associate 1,820,314 -
fe)  Accumulated losses atiributable o associate - Perseus Mining

Limited

Balance at the beginning of the financial year - -

Share of associate’s net foss (212,419 -

Balance at the end of the financial year (212,419) -
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13. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD — continued

Consolidated Entity

2005 2004
$ $
(e} Share of associate’s assels and liabilities - Perseus Mining Limiled
Current assels 777,087 -
Non-current assets 1,397,786 -
Current liabilities {172,094) -
Net assets 2,002,619 -

Consolidated Entity

2005 200
s $
(e)  Carrying amount of investment in associate - Textonic Consulting
Limited
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 4,929,363 3,058,997
Acquisition of ordinary shares in associate {note 23{b}} - ar cost - 703,742
Acquisition of preference shares in associate — at cost - 470,325
Share of associate’s net loss for the relevant period (41,213) (203,701}
Eguity accounted value transferred {4,888,150) -
Carrying amount of investment in associate - 4,929,363
(1 Accumulated losses atiributable to associate - Textonic Consulling
Limited
Balance at the beginning of the financial year (215,037) {11,336}
Share of associate’s net foss {41,213) (203,701}
Egquity accounted fosses transferred {note 25(b}} 256,250 -
Balance at the end of the financial year - (215,037}
fg)  Share of associate’s assels and liabilities - Textonic Consulting
Limited
Currenl assels N/A 76,858
Non-current assets, inclusive of il properties - at fair value N/A 4,880,388
Current liabilities N/A {27,883}
Net assetls N/A 4,926,363

In October 2004, the Company increased its interest in the share capital of Textonic Consulting Lid from 50% to 100%.
Consequently from that time, Textonic ceased 1o be accounted for as an associate and has become part of the consolidated
entity. Please refer to Note 23 {b) for details of the acquisition.
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i4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and equipment — at cost
Accomulated depreciation
Decrement in carrying value

Total property, plant and equipment net book value

Reconciliation:
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year
Additions

Additions recognised upon consolidation of Textonic
Consulting Ltd

Disposals

Reduction due to deconsolidation of Perseus Mining Lid

Depreciation

Depreciation capitalised to Exploration

Decrement in carrying value

Carrying amount at the end of the year

15. MINERAL INTEREST ACQUISITION,

EXPLORATION AND DEVELOPMENT
EXPENDITURE

Balance at the beginning of the year

Purchase price of oil projects recognised upon consolidation of

Textonic Consulting Lid
Expenditure incurred during the year
Write ofT of exploration expenditure

Reduction in deferred exploration expenditure due to
deconsolidation of Perseus Mining Limited

Reimbursement of expenditure

Carried forward

The expenditure above relates principally to the exploration

and evaluation phase. The ultimate recoupment of this

expenditure is dependent upon the successful development and
commercial exploitation, or aliernatively, sale of the respective

areas of interest.

Consolidated Company
2605 2064 2085 2604
$ s s $
3,368,886 3321310 63,408 34411
(1,847,395) (1,713,614} {35,777y {26,191}
(567,807)  (266,789) - -
863,684 1,340,907 27,631 8,220
1,340,907 1,866,518 8,220 13,584
30,466 18,236 28,998 1,500
219,597 - - -
(42,751) {2,231} - (868)
{10,316) - - -
(316,932)  (274,827) (9,587) {5,996)
{25,394) - - -
(361,893)  (266,789) - -
863,684 1,340,907 27,631 8,220
968,190 1,086,817 16,210 69,0662
9,898,466 - - -
132,761 149,304 14,293 -
(156,150)  {167,274) - {20,600)
(696,471) - - -
- (70,657) - {32,852}
10,176,736 998,190 30,503 16,210
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i16. PAYABLES
Current

Trade creditors and accruals

Amount due for acquisition of initial 50% interest in Textonic
Consulting Ltd

Amount due for acquisition of remaining 50% interest in
Textonic Consulting Litd

Non-current
Payable - St Jude Resources Limited

Amount due for acquisition of remaining 50% interest in
Textonic Consulting Lid

Terms and conditions relating to the above financial
instruments:

- Trade and other creditors are non-interest bearing and
are normally settled on 30 day terms.

- The amount due for the acquisition of the initial 50%
interest in Textonic Consulting Lid is non-interest
bearing and payable only on the occurrence of certain
specified events, including the raising of new equity
capital by the Company. The liability is denominated
and payable in US dollars (US $56.,604).

- The amount duc for the acquisition of the remaining
50% interest in Textonic Coonsulting Lid is non-
interest bearing and payable on deferred terms up to
October 2007. The liability is denominated and
payable in US dollars and the gross amount payable at
30 June 20065 was USE 2.55 millon, which has been
stated at a net present value of US$2,110.345
{AUDS2,771,158) in these financial statements.

- The amount owing to St Jude will be repayable upon
the successful sale of the Ghana heap leach plant 1o
another party.

17. PROVISIONS

Current
Employee benefits {note 26)
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Consolidated Company
2605 2604 2085 2004
$ $ s b
349,735 276,769 237,062 99,619
66,449 568,047 66,449 568,047
326,819 - 326,019 -
742,203 844,816 629,470 667,066
72,668 78,924 - -
2,445,139 2,445,139 -
2,517,799 78,924 2,445,139 -
21,659 19,354 19,608 14,054




Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

Share capital

563,701,132 (2004: 431,801,133) ordinary shares, fully paid
UnaHotted shares (Note 18 (bY)

a) Ordinary shares
Movements in Ordinary Shares:

Balance at the beginning of the year

Vendor consideration for the acquisition of the initial 50%
interest in Textonic Consulting Lid at an issue price of 3 cents
per share

Share placement at issue price of 2.5 cents on 29 October 20603
Share placement at issue price of 1.7 cents on 16 June 2004

Share placement at issue price of 1.8 cents on 6 September
2004

Share placement at issue price of 2.3 cents on 30 November
2004

Shares issued at 4 cents each as part consideration for
acquisition of Textonic Consulting on 30 November 2004

Share placement at issue price of 4 cents on 24 January 2005
Share placement at issue price of 4 cents on 24 January 2003
Share placement at issue price of 2.2 cents on 13 June 2005
Transaction costs arising from issue for cash

Balance at the end of the year

Consolidated Company
2085 2064 2085 2004
s s h] §
69,361,397 65,877,767 69,301,397 65,877,767
1,260,000 - 1,260,000 -
70,561,397 65,877,767 70,501,397 65,877,767
Number Number $ $

431,881,133 332924538 65,877,707 63,231,829
- 67,276,595 - 2,018,298
- 14,600,900 - 350,000
- 17,600,000 - 2992060
20,000,080 - 360,808 -
24,000,080 - 552,008 -
20,000,080 - 800,608 -
14,000,080 - 560,008 -
5,000,080 - 260,000 -
48,869,999 - 1,675,808 -
- - (124,118) (21,620)
563,781,132 431,801,133 69,301,397 65,877,767
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Consolidated Company
2805 26804 2805 2604
$ $ $ $
18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY - continued
(h) Unallotted shares
30,000,000 ordinary shares - refer note below 1,260,000 - 1,200,606 -

Naoie

In October 2004, the Company entered into an agreement 1o acquire the remaining 50% of the issued share capital in Textonic
Consulting Ltd. Part of the purchase consideration was the issue of 50 milion ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.
The agreement required 20 million shares to be issued at the owtset, which was completed and recorded as part of the
acquisition costs at 4 cents per share. A further 15 million shares were required to be issued in October 2006 and the final 15
million shares in October 2007, The 30 million unallotted shares have also been recorded in these accounts as part of the
acquisition costs at a price of 4 cents per share. Subsequent to year end, the full 30 million shares were Issued in September
2005 - refer to Note 29.

{c} Share Options

Options to take up ordinary shares in the capital of the Company have been granted as Tollows:

Options
Opening Options Lxercised/ Closing
Exercise Exercise Balance Issued Cancelled/ Balance
Period Note Price 1 July 2084 2084/05 Expired 30 June 2005
2004/05
Nember Nember Number Number
On or before 31 May 2005 $0.10 88,606,950 - (88,606,950} -
On or before 30 Dec 2005 $0.10 6,400,600 - - 6,400,000
1 Jan 2005 to 31 Dec 2007 $0.10 1,000,606 - (1,000,000} -
1 jun 2005 to 31 Mar 2008 $0.10 1,000,600 - (1,060,000} -
%0.04 or
On or before 31 Dec 2006 (i) $0.05 - 3,000,000 - 3,600,000
| Jun 2005 to 31 Dec 2007 (i) $0.05 - 2,000,000 - 2,600,000
| Sep 2005 10 31 Mar 2008 {iD) $6.05 - 5,500,000 {1,500,000) 4,000,000
97,006,950 10,500,000 (92,106,950} 13,400,000

(D

(i)

3,000,000 unlisted options to subscribe for ordinary shares were issued to Far East Capital Ltd for capital raising and
corporale promotion services. For each two options exercised, a further option will be issued, exercisable at 5 cents
on or before 31 December 2008 or at 7 cents from 1 January 2609 10 31 December 2009.

4,000,000 unlisted options to subscribe for ordinary shares were issued to M ] Sandy & Associates Pty Lid, a
consultant engaged (o assist with joint venture negotiations on the ol projects, strategic development and investor
relations. 1,500,000 unlisted options to subscribe for ordinary shares were issued to Mr David Bay, the Company’s
Chief Financial Officer. These options were cancelled during the year ending 30 June 2005 as Mr Bay was no longer
employed by the Company. 2,000,000 unlisted options 1o subseribe for ordinary shares were issued to Mr Andrei
Sinelnikov, the Company’s General Manager - Petroleum as part of his remuneration package.

(& Terms and conditions of contributed equity

Ordinary Shares:

Ordinary shares have the right 1o receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up of the Company, to participate
in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held.
Ovdinary shares entitle their holder 1o one vole, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company.
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Consolidated Company
2805 2004 2805 2064
$ h] $ s
19. RESERVES
Ogption premium reserve 589,000 589,000 589,508 589,000
Movements during the year
Opiion premium reserve
Balance at the beginning of the year 589,000 589,000 589,600 589,000
Premium on issues of options during the year - - - -
Balance at end of year 589,000 589,000 589,808 589,000

Nature and purpose of the Option Reserve:

The option premium reserve is used to accumulate proceeds received from the issuing of options and accumulate the value of
options issued in consideration for services rendered.

Consolidated Company
2605 2004 2605 2064
$ 5 $ $
20. ACCUMULATED LOSSES
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the year 60,038,559 58,211,881 58,211,605 58,200,545
Net loss attributable to members of the parent entity 699,897 1,826,678 2,526,851 11,060
Accumulated losses at the end of the year 60,738,456 60,038,559 60,738,456 5R8.211,605
Consolidated
2605 2004
$ b
21. OUTSIDE EQUITY INTERESTS
Qutside equity interests in controlled entities comprise:
Share capital - 759,648
Accumulated losses - (147,083}
Total outside equity interests - refer note below - 612,363

Naoie

In September 2004, the Company’s interest in the share capital of Perseus Mining Litd was reduced from 58% 10 39% as a
result of the completion by Perseus of an initial public offer of its securities and a listing on the Australian Stock Exchange.
Consequently, Perseus has ceased 1o be part of the consolidated entity since September 2004 and, since that time, has been
accounted Tor as an associate company.
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
{a) Interest Rate Risk Exposures

The consolidated entity may be exposed to inferest rate risk through primary financial assets and liabilities. The
following table summarises interest rate risk for the consolidated entity, together with effective interest rates as at
balance date.
Fixed inferest rafe
maturing in:

20605 Weighted  Floating 1 year or Over 1 Non- Total
average interest less year interest
effective rate bearing
interest rate
s Y Y Y Y
Financial Asseis:
Current:
Cash at bank 3.49% 461,469 - - 36,866 468,333
Receivables - - - - 158,905 158,905
Non Current:
Receivables - - - 81,606 81,656
Invesiments - - - - 1,820,314 1,820,314
Total Financial Assets 461,469 - - 2,097,781 2,559,250
Financial Liabilities:
Current:
Trade creditors - - - - 312,662 312,662

Amount due for acquisition of

investment in Textonic

Consulting L&d - - - - 362,468 362 468
Non Current:

Amount due for acquisition of

investment in Textonic

Consulting Ltd - - - - 2,445,139 2,445,139
Payables - - - - 72,660 72,660
Total Financizl Liabiities - - - 3,222,929 3,222,929

Fixed inferesi rate
maturing in:

2064 Weighted  Floating 1 year or Over 1 Non- Teotal
average interest less year interest
effective rate bearing
interest rate
s Y Y Y Y

Financial Asseis:
Current:

Caslh at bank 3.25% 607,774 - - - 667,774

Receivables - - - - 836,652 86,652
Non Current:

Other financial assets - - - - 5,560 5,500

Investments - - - - 4,929 363 4,929 363
Total Financial Assels 607,774 - - 5,021,515 5,629,289
Financial Liabilities:
Current:

Trade creditors - - - - 276,769 276,769

Amount due for acquisition of

investment in Textonic

Consulting Ld - - - - 568,047 568,047
Non Current:

Payables - - - - 78,924 78,924
Total Financial Liabilities - - - 923,740 923,740

Page 46



Caspian Oil & Gas Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

22,

{b)

)

(d)

{e)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued

Net fair values

The aggregate net fair value of flnancial assets and financial liabilities approximate the carrying amount of the
financial assets and financial lisbilities as indicated in the Statement of Financial Position. There are no unrecognised
financial assets or financial liabilities at year-end.

Credit risk exposures

The consolidated entity’s maximum exposures to credit risk at year end in relation 10 each class of recognised
financial asset is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Statement of Financial Position.

Concentration of credit risk

As the consolidated entity is exclusively involved in exploration rather than trading there is currently very little credit
risk. The risk is considered immaterial to the operations of the consolidated entity.

Exchange rate exposures
The Company has not entered into any general or specilic contracts to hedge against losses that may arise from

exchange rate Tluctuations. The Company may suffer such exchange rate fluctuation losses as it has a number of
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, particularly US dollars.

23. COMMITMENTS

Exploration expenditure commitments

For those mineral concessions where the consolidated entity is not the titleholder, the earning of equity interest is by incurring
exploration expenditure of specified amounts by certain dates. Where the consolidated entity or its joint venture partners are
the concession holder, renewal will be subject 10 satisfying the relevant authority as to the adequacy of exploration programs
by comparison to work programs submitied at the time of grant of the concession. 1t is estimated that the consolidated entity is
required to make the following outlays to satisfy joint venture and exploration permit conditions. These commitments are
subject to variation dependent upon matiers such as the results of exploration on the mineral concessions.

Consolidated Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
b $ b $
Within one year 350,808 575,000 30,808 50,000
One year or fater and not later than [ive years 770,808 1,270,000 100,808 160,000
Later than five years 770,808 1,270,000 100,808 160,000

1,890,808 3,115,000 250,608 250,000
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24. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(a) Legal actions

A former dicector and shareholder of Oda River Goldmining Company Lid {*Oda River™) commenced an action at the Kumasi
High Court in Ghana in 1996 against Oda River, Oda River’s managing director and Mutnal Ghana Ltd ¢*Mutual™) claiming a
twenty percent sharcholding in Oda River. Oda River contends that the shareholding was forfeited afier a call on the shares
was not paid. A scbsidiary of the Company was in joint venture with Oda River and Mutual and acquired ownership of the
Abore prospecting licence from those parties. The consolidated entity's interest in the Abore proiect was sold in July 2001 and
the Company has received legal advice that it has no exposure o this action. No provision has been made in the financial
statements in respect of the claim.

Oda River has also commenced an action in the High Cowt in Ghana claiming compensation for breaches under its
agreements with Mutual and is seeking a declaration that it retains a 20% interest in the company owning the Abore project.
The Company has received legal advice that the consolidated entity has no exposure 1o the claim and a defence to the action
has been lodged. No provision has been made in the financial statements in respect of the claim by Oda River.

The registered trustees of the Chiristian Faith Church, Akim Asuboa have commenced an action in the High Court in Ghana
claiming ownership of land within the Akim-Oda prospecting licence and losses and damages due to exploration activities.
The plaintiffs are seeking a declaration that the Akim-Oda joint venture partners are not entitled io enter the land and damages
of 200,000,000 cedis (approx AUDS$30,000). The Company has received legal advice that the consolidated entity has no
exposure to the claim and a defence 1o the action has been lodged. No provision hias been made in the inancial statements in
respect of the claim.

(b} Acquisition of investment in Textonic Consulting Limited

The terms of the agreement under which Caspian Oil & Gas Limited acquired the first 56% of the issued capital of Textonic
Consulting Lid require additional consideration to be paid in the future if certain performance criteria are achieved:

* 67,276,596 shares in the issued capital of Caspian Oil & Gas Limited are required to be issued to the vendors if
combined proved and probable reserves, as certified by an independent expert, on the licences currently held by JSC
Textonic, the operating subsidiary of Textonic, exceed 100,000,000 barrels of recoverable oil on or before 30 November
2007.

An amount of $50,000 iv payable to another party (unrelated to the vendors of the shares in Textonic Consulting Lid) upon
commencement of successful commercial production of oil from the propecties in the Kyrgyz Republic.
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Notes

25. STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of the loss from ordinary activities {o
net eash used in operating activities
Loss from ordinary activities after income 1ax
Add back non-cash items:
Depreciation
Decrement in carrying value of plant and equipment
Bad debts written ofT
{Profit)/loss on sale of plant and equipment
(Profit)/loss on sale or write-down of Investments
(Profit)/oss on sale of mineral tenements
Gain due to deconsolidation of Perseus Mining Limited
Share of associates’ net (profits)/losses
Exploration expenditure write-off
Diminution in value of investments (Tisted}
Provision for non-recovery of investments in and loans to
controlled entities (write-back of provision}
Employee benefits provision
Foreign currency (gain)/loss
Change in assels and liabilities:
{Increase)/decrease in receivables
{Increase)/decrease in other assets
{Decrease)/increase in payables

Consolidated
2005 2004
b b
(744,676) (1,973,763}
316,932 274,827
361,803 266,789
3,846 -
(108,224} {13,154}
(15,894 (162,062}
(1,674,385} -

253,632 203,701
156,150 167,274

- (23.283)
1,705 473
(31,909) (4743

(175,645) 25,675
12,087 4,300
438,533 185,590

Net cash ssed in operating activities

(1,265,145 (1,044,107}

Company
2005 2004
h] h]
(2,526,851) £11,060)
9,587 5,996
3,846 -
- 868
(15,0900  (103,927)
- {100,000)
- 20,000
- £23,283)
1,371,584 (994,057}
5,614 5,331
75,586 627,754
{12,374) (2,816}
138,702 46,988
(949,396) (528,206}
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25. STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - continued

(b} Acquisition of Controlled Entities

Date of acquisition:

Non-Cash Conxideration:

Textonic Consulting
Lid

30 November 2804

Shares issued 4,018,298
Share of past and current year equity accounted losses (256,250)
Cash Cousideration.
Cash paid in prior year 2,358,055
Cash paid this year 1,163,739
Foreign exchange gain on actual payments made 28,592
Consideration still outstanding 2,701,177
Total Consideration 14,213,611
Net Assets Acquired:
Cash assets 17,616
Recelvables and prepayments 90,080
Plant and equipment 219,597
Intangibles - fair value of oil properties acquired 9,898,406
Payables {12,068)
18,213,611
Net cash effect:
- cash consideration paid 3,721,794
- cash included in net assets acquired (17,616)
Total Net cash paid for controlling entity 3,704,178
Less cash consideration paid in prior year (2,558,055)
Net cash paid Tor controlling entity this year 1,146,123

Operations of acquired controlled entifies

Textonic Consulting Limited is a Canadian holding company, whose wholly owned Kyrgyz subsidiary, JSC Textonic,
owns ten oil prolects covering approximately 16,500 sg km of permit areas located mainly around the established
Fergana Basin oil province.

(¢} Loss of Control of subsidiary

In October 2003, Perseus Mining Limited was incorporated as a 160% subsidiary of Caspian Ol & Gas Limited. During the
period to 30 June 2004, Perseus raised a further $759,648 as equity capital from third parties. Consequently, Caspian Oil &
Gas’s shareholding in Perseus was reduced to 58% at 39 June 2004. Through the successtul completion of Perseus’s initial
public offer of securities in September 2004, the Company’s sharcholding reduced to 39 % at 30 June 2005 and it ceased to be
accounted Tor as a controlled entity of the Company.

{d) Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities

During the year, the Company entered in to an agreement to issue 50,000,000 ordinary shares in the capital of the Company as
part consideration for the acquisition of the remaining 50% of the share capital in Textonic Consolting Lid. 206,000,060 of
these shares were issued at 4 cenls each, with the balance of 30 million shares required to be issued at fater dates. The liability
for the issue of the remaining 30 million shares has been recorded at 4 cents per share. These shares were {ssued in Seplember
2005.
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Consolidated Company
2805 2084 2005 2604

$ s $ $
26. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The aggregate employee benefit liability is comprised of:
Annual leave provision - current 21,859 19,354 19,668 14,634

No. No. No. No.

Number of employees at year end 41 20 2 1

27. DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES

The Company has applied the exemption under Corporations Amendment Regulation 20035 which exempis listed companies
from providing remuneration disclosures in relation o their specified directors and executives in their annual financial reports
by Accounting standard AASB 1046, ‘Director and Exscutive Disclosures by Disclosing Entities’.  These remuneration
disclosures are provided in the Remuneration Report of the Directors” Report designated as audited.

Shareholdings
The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by directors, including shares held by entities they control,
are set out below.

Balance at Received as Options Other Balance af
1 July 2004 Remunerafion Exercised Movements{a) 30 June 2005

Parent entity directors

Reginald Gillard 1,749,428 - - - 1,749,428
Nana Prah Agyensaim V1 1,350,000 - - - 1,330,060
Colin Carson 25,061,247 - - 2,050,000 27,111,247
Mark Calderwood 1,835,000 - - - N/A
Mirg Walker 74,153,500 - - 15,825,119 839,978,610

Alexander Becker - - - - -

{ay Oiher Movements
Shares purchased or sold during the financial year.

Mark Calderwood resigned as a director during the year.

Option holdings
The numbers of options in the Company held during the financial year by directors, including shares held by entities they control,

are set out below.

Balance ai Received as Options Other Balance at Vested and
1 July 2604 Remuneration Exercised/  Movements 30 June exercisable at
{Expired) 2005 year end
Parent entity
directors
Reginald Giltard 1,000,600 - - - 1,600,900 1,000,600
Nana Prah
Agyensaim VI 2,035,000 - (2,035,000} - - -
Colie Carson - - - - - -
Mark Calderwood 5,820,000 - - - NiA -
Jirg Walker 6,600,000 - (6,100,60) - 500,000 500,060
Alexander Becker - - - - - -

Mark Calderwood resigned as a director during the year.
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27. DIRECTOR AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES - continued

Other transaciions with directors

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no director has entered into a material contract with the Company or the
consolidated entity since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving directors’
interests subsisting at year end.

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Directors and specified executives

The Company has applied the exemption under Corporations Amendment Regulation 20035 which exempis listed companies
from providing remuneration disclosures in relation o their specified directors and executives in their annual financial reports

by Accounting standard AASB 1046, ‘Director and Exscutive Disclosures by Disclosing Entities’.  These remuneration
disclosures are provided in the Remuneration Report of the Directors” Report designated as audited.

(b} Transactions with Directors and Director-Relafed Entities
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions unless otherwise stated.

Consolidated Comipany
2085 2004 2065 2604
s $ s $
{1y Accounting, secretarial and corporate service fees paid or
payable to Corporate Consultants Pty Lid, a company in which
Mr Gillard is a director and has a beneficial interest. 118,319 129,438 119,319 83,934
(i) Rent paid or payable to Ledgar Road Partnership, an entity in
which Mr Gillard and Mr Carson both have a beneficial
interest. 1,458 - 1.458 -
(iil) Commission fees paid to 3 Walker, pursuant 1o a private
placement in October 2003, - 5,000 - 5,060
(ivy Taxation services paid or payable to Icon Financial
Management Pty Lid, an entity in which Mr Gillard is a
director and has a beneficial interest. 3,317 - 3,317 -
Bualances due to Directors and Director Related Entifies at year end
- included in trade creditors and accroals 104,362 116,823 184,362 64,016

(¢) Transactions with Related Parties - Controlled Entities

Wholly Owned Group

The parent entity incurs exploration expenditure on behall of the controlled entities. 1t also provides management and
administration services to the controlled entities, for which a fee of Nil (2004: $45,000) has been charged for the vear.
Investments in and loans to wholly owned controlled entities are disclosed in Notes 12 and 9 respectively.

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions unless otherwise stated.

{d) Transactions with Other Related Parties

During the year, the Company concluded an agreement with its associate, Perseus Mining Ltd in respect of the Kwatechi
mineral property in Ghana. The Company assigned farm-in rights in the property such that Perseus can earn 60% out of the

Company’s 67% interest by funding expenditure to a mining operation. Effectively, the Company will have a free carried 7%
interest.
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29. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There are no matters or circumstances that bave arisen since 30 June 2005 that have or may significantly affect the operations,
results, or state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future financial years, other than the matters referred to below:

* In August 2005, the Company entered into an agreement with Santos International Operations Pty Lid (*Santos™}, a
wholly owned subsidiary of Santos Limited, a major Australian oil and gas exploration and production company 1o:

¥ Tarm out and joint venture its o projects in the Kyrgyz Republic. Santos is required to incur expenditure of
US528 million on the oil projects in order to carn an 80% interest in the oil projects; and

3 issue 100 million fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of 3 cents per share to raise $3 million and grant
an option over an additional 40 million shares.

On 23 September 2005, the agreement with Santos was completed and Santos subscribed for 100 million shares at 3
cents each and 40 million shares at 5 cents each for total subscription monies of §5 million. Santos will also pay
US$1 million for acquisition of Caspian’s technical database in relation to the Kyrgyz oil projects and commence
sole funding the explocation and development expenditure on the oif projects.

A condition to the Santos agreement required the Company to settle its outstanding liabilities to the vendors of the
Kyrgyz oil projects immediately rather than on the deferred basis previously agreed with the vendor. Consequently,
the Company issued 30 million fully paid ordinary shares on 23 September 20065 and made payment of US$2
million in full and final settlement of all liabilities to the vendor of the oil projects on 29 September 20035,

*  On 30 August 2005, the Company completed the placement of 58 million shares at an issue price of 5 cents per share
for 1otal subscription monies of $2.9 million. The Company also completed the allotment of 20 million options
exercisable at 5 cents each as consideration for various corporate and technical services provided to the Company.

The subscription monies referred to above have been used / will be used for settlement of vendor liabilities, feasibility

studies for shallow oil production, general working capital and to assist with the identification and assessment of

complementary new opportunities in the energy sector.

The financial effects of the above events occurred after balance date and have not been recognised in this financial report.
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In the opinion of the Directors of Caspian (il & Gas Limited ("the Company™):
{a) the financial statements, notes and the additional disclosures included in the directors’ repori designated as
audited, of the Company and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Aect 2001,

inciuding:

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and consolidated entity as at 30
June 2005 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(iiy  complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2601 ; and

(b}  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debis as and when they
become due and payable.

This declaration has been made afier receiving the declarations requirved to be made o the directors in accordance
with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 Tor the financial period ending 30 June 2005,

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Drirectors made pursuant o s 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2601,

On behalf of the Directors

/""“Qg}'

s

R N Gillard
Chairman

Drated at Perth, 30 September 20035
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hartefed Accountanty
INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT

Te the members of
CASPIAN OIL & GAS LIMITED (formerly Afminex Limited)

Scope
The financial report and directors’ responsibility

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2005, statement of
financial performance, statement of cash flows and accompanying notes to the financial statements
for the year then ended, and the directors’ declaration of Caspian (il & Gas Limited (“the
company™). The financial report includes the conselidated financial statements of the consolidated
entity comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from fime to time
during the financial year.

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial report in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, This includes responsibility for the
maintenance of adeguate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and
defect fraud and ervor, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the
financial report.

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the company.
Our audit was condueted in accordance with Awgtralian Auditing Standards, in order to provide
reasonable assurance as to whether or not the financial report is free of material misstatement. The
pature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective
testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than
conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatermenis have been
detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents
fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with Accounting
Standards and other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is
consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the consolidated eatity’s financial position,
and of their performance as represented by the resulis of their operations and cash flows.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:

s examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounits
and disclosures in the financial report, and

s assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors.

HEB Manr Judd {WA Parinership)
15 Rheola Strest West Perth 6005. PO Box 263 West Perth 8572 Western Australia, DX 228 {Perth) Telephore +81 {08} 9481 0077, Fax +81 {08} 9481 J&86.
Email: hibf@mjwa.com.au. Website: hitpifwww hib.com.au

Fartners: lan 4 Barsden, Terry B Blonkinsop, Liksa Christodulow, Wayna M Clark, Lucie Di Glalipnarde, Colin & Emmott, Trevos G Hoddy, Norman & Nelil, Feter J Spepciiay

HEE Mann fudd {IWA Pastnershig) Is 2 member of Interpatlonal and the HEE Mann Judd Xatlonal of q tirme
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Independent Audit Report

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting
when determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide
assurasce oa internal controls.

Erdependence

In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirementis of Australian
professional ethical prorouncements and the Corporations Act 2001.

Audit opinion

In our opinion, the financial report of Caspian Oil & Gas Limited is in accordance with:

{ay the Corporations Act 2601, including:

(i}  giving a frue and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position
as at 36 June 2005 and of their performance for the year then ended; and

(iiy complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations
2001 and

{(b) other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia.

HLA f///g?w&? /gw{”f

HLEB MANN JEDD
Chartered Accountants

e e
//f’/f{@gﬂ;@w {:é///ﬁ f?-fﬁé/{--

Perth, Wesfern Australia N & NEILL
3G September 2005 Pariner
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Caspian Qil & Gas Limited
Corporate Governance Statement

This statement ocutlines the main corporate governance practices in place throughout the financial year, which
comply with the ASX Corporate Governance Council recommendations, unless otherwise stated.
Board of Directors

Role of the Board
The Board’s primary role is the protection and enhancement of long-term sharehoider value.

To fulfil this role, the Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the consolidaied entity including
formulating its strategic direction, approving and monitoring capital, exploration and operating expenditure, setiing
remuneraiion, appointing, removing and creating succession policies for directors and senior executives,
establishing and monitoring the achievement of management’s goals and ensuring the integrity of internal control
and management information systems. 1t is also responsible for approving and monitoring {inancial and other
reporiing.

The Board has delegated responsibility for operation and administration of the Company o the Executive Directors
and senior management.

Board processes

To assist in the execution of ifs responsibilities, the Board has established an Audit Committee. Due to the small
size of the Board, other matters that would be addressed by committees {eg. nomination committee or remuseration
commiitee) are dealt with by the full Board of directors.

The Board has established a framework for the management of the consolidated entity including a system of
internal control, a business risk management process and the establishment of appropriate ethical standards.

The full Board holds regular meetings 1o discuss operational matters, plus strategy meetings and any extraordinary
meetings ai such other times as may be necessary 1o address any specific significant maiters that may arise.

The agenda for meetings is prepared in conjunction with the Chairman, the Executive Directors and Company
Secretary. Board reports are circulated in advance.

Independent professional advice and aceess to company information

Each director has the right of access to all relevant company information and to the Company’s employees and,
subject to prior consultation with the Chairman, may seek independent professional advice from a suitably gualified
adviser at the consclidated entity’s expense. The director must consult with an advisor suitably qualified in the
relevant field, and obtain the Chairman’s approval of the fee payable for the advice before proceeding with the
consuitation. A copy of the advice received by the direcior is made available to all other members of the Board.

Compaosition of the Board

The names of directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are set out in the Directors’ report.
The composition of the Board is determined usiag the following principles:

+ the Board should comprise at least three directors. This number may be increased where it is felt that
additional expertise is required in specific areas, or when an outstanding candidate is identified.
the Board should comprise a majority of independent, aon-executive directors.
the Board should comprise directors with a broad range of expertise, with & majority of directors haviag
extensive knowledge of the Company’s industry.
the Chairman should be a noa-executive independent director.
directors appointed by the Board are subject to election by shareholders at the following annual general
meeting and thereafter directors are subject to re-election al least every three years.

The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of
expertise and experience. When a vacancy exists, through whatever cause, or where it is considered that the Board
would benefit from the services of a new director with particular skills, a panel of candidates is selected with the
appropriate expertise and experience. External advisers may be used lo assist in such a process. The Board then
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appoinis the most suitable candidate who must stand for election at the next general meeting of shaseholders. In
order to conserve funds and maximise spending on exploration, the size of the Board has been restricted from time
to time. As a consequence independent, non-executive directors have not always been in the maiority on the Board.

The Chairman reviews the performance of ali directors each year. Direciors whose performance is unsatisfactory
are asked to retire.

The skills, experience and experiise relevant to the position of director held by each director in office at the date of
the annual report is included in the Director’s Report. Directors of Caspian Gil & Gas Limited are considered to be
independent when they are independent of management and free from any business or other relationship that could
materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the exercise of their
unfettered judgement.

The following directors of Caspiaa (il & Gas Limited are considered 1o be independent:

Name Position

R N Gillard Non-Executive Joint Chairman

N Prah Non-Executive Joiat Chairman — resigned 23 September 2065
Audit Commiitee

The role of the Audit Committee is to advise on the establishment and maintenance of a framework of internal
control and appropriate ethical standards for the management of the consolidated entity. 1t also gives the Board
of Directors additional assurance regarding the quality and reliability of financial information prepared for use by
the Board in determining potlicies or for inclusion in the firancial report.

The members of the commiitee are:

Nana Prah Agyensaim V1 {Chairman) — resigned 23 September 2005
Reg Gillard
Colin Carson

The committee plans to meet twice a year and more ofien if required. The commitiee members’ atiendance record
is disclosed next to the table of Directors” meetings in the Directors® Report.

The responsibilities of the Commitiee also include:

reviewing the financial report and other financial information distributed externally
reviewing the performance and independence of the auditor

s laiging with the external auditors and ensuring that the annual and half-year statutory audits are conducted
in an effective manner

*  monitoriag the establishment of an appropriate internal control framework and considering enhancements

*  moniioring the procedures in place to ensure compliance with the Corporations Act and Stock Exchange
Listing Rules and ali other regulatory requirements

e addressing any maiters outstanding with auditors, Australian Taxation Office, Australian Securities and
Iavestments Commission, Australian Stock Exchange and {inancial instifutions
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Remuneration report
Remuneration policies

Remuneration levels are competitively set to affract and refain appropriately qualified and experienced directors
and sentor executives. The broad remuneration policy is to ensure the remuneration package properly reflects the
person’s duties and responsibilities and level of performance, and that remuneration is competitive in atiracting,
retaining and motivating people of the highest quality. Where necessary, independeat advice on the appropriateness
of remuneration packages is obtained.

Remuneration packages inclaude a mix of fixed remuneration and equity-based remusneration. There is no separate
profit-share plan. Opiions have been issued to directors and employees as an incentive aad in recognition of the
fact that the fixed cash component of remuneration is comparatively modest. The ability to exercise the options is
conditional on the holder remaining in the Company’s employment. There are no other noa-cash benefits available
to directors or employees, although the consolidated entity may provide housing fo expatriate employees from time
to time.

Total remuneration for all non-executive directors, approved at a shareholders meeting held on 17 January 1995, is
not to exceed $125,000 per annum. Director’s fees cover all main Board activities. Fees may also be paid to non-
executive directors for additional consulting services provided to the Company. Non-executive directors are
entitled to receive options (subject te shareholder approval) as it is considered an appropriate method of providing
sufficient reward whilst maintaining cash reserves.

The Company does not have any schemes for retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation, for directors.
Risk management

Oversight of the risk management system

The Board oversees the establishment, implementation, and annual review of the Company's Risk Management
System. Management has established and implemented the Risk Management System for assessing, monitoring and
managing operational, financial reporiing and compiliance risks for the consolidated eniity. Financial reporting risk
management and associated compliance and controls have been assessed and found to be operating adequately. The
operational and other compliance risk management have also been assessed and found to be operating efficiently
and effectively. All risk assessments covered the whole financial period and the period up io the signing of the
financial report for all material operations in the consolidated entity.

Risk profile

The Executive Director{s) reporis 1o the Board monthly on the status of risks, ensuring that they are identified,
assessed and appropriately managed.

Major risks arise from such matters as exploration risk, security of tenuse, eavironment, government policy
changes, commodity prices, cccupational health and safety and finascial reporting.

Comprehensive practices have been established to ensure:

+ exploration expenditure is incurred in accordance with an approved budget, actual costs are reviewed against
budget by the Executive Directorsoccupational health and safety standards are monitored and reviewed to
achieve high standards of performance

joint ventures and project acquisitions are properly authorised and executed

the quality and integrity of personnel

financial reporting accuracy and compliance with the financial reporting regulatory framework

enviroamental regulation complianceQuality and integrity of personnel

*« & = »

Formal appraisals are conducted at least annually for all employees. Training and development and appropriate
remuneration and incentives with regular performance reviews create an environment of co-operation and
constructive dialogue with employees and senior management.

Financial reporting
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The Executive Director and the Company Secretary have declarved, in writing to the Board that the Company’s
financial reports are founded on a gound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which
implemenis the policies adopted by the Board.

Environmental regudation

The consolidated entity and its associate, Textonic Consuiting Ltd, hold exploration inierests in Ghana, Cote

d'lvoire and the Kyrgyz Republic. The consolidated entity’s operalions are subject o environmental regulations in
the relevant jurisdictions in relation to its exploration activities.

The consolidated entity is committed to achieving a high standard of environmental performance. The Executive
Directors and Exploration Managers are responsible for the regular moenitoring of envircnmental exposures and
compliance with environmental regulations. As part of this process they are responsible for:

+ implementing envircnmental management plans in operating areas which may have a significant
environmental impactidentifying where remedial actions are required and implementing action plans

The Board is advised of any signilicant environmental issues as they occur. Based upon the work completed, the
Board is not aware of any significant breaches of environmental requirements during the period covered by this
report.

Ethical standards

The Board acknowledges the need for continued maintenance of the highest standards of corporate governance
practice and ethical conduct by all Directors and employees of the consolidated entity. A fuadamental theme of the
consolidated entity’s code of ethics is that all business affairs are conducted legally, ethically and with the strict
observance of the highest standards of integrity and propriety. The Directors and management have the
responsibility fo carry out their functions with a view to maximising financial performance of the consolidated
entify.

All directors and employees are expected to act with the utmost integrity and objectivity, striving at all times 1o
enhance the reputation and performance of the consolidated entity.

Conflicts of interest

Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interesis that could potentially conflict with
those of the Company. Where the Board believes that a significant conflict exists for a director on a board maiter,
the director concerned does not receive the relevant board papers and is not present at the meeting whilst the item is
considered. Details of director related entity transactions with the Company and the consolidated entity are set out
in notes to the Financial Statements.
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Trading in general company securities by directors and employees

The policy on trading in Company securities by directors and employees is that directors and employees are
prohibited from dealing in company shares or exercising options whilst in possession of price sensitive information
not yet released to the market. The Directors have also resolved that any of them planning to trade any securities of
the Company will consult with the Chairman and one of the Executive Directors prior to any such irade.

Commanication with shareholders

The Board provides shareholders with information using a comprehensive continuocus disclosure policy which
includes identifying maiters that may have a material effect on the price of the Company’s securities, notifving
them 1o the ASX, posting them on the Company’s website, and issuing media releases.

In summary, the continuous disclosure policy operates as follows

s the Executive Director and the Company Secretary are responsible for interpreting the Company’s policy
and where necessary informing the Board. The Company Secretary i responsible for all communications
with the ASX the full annuzal financial report is distributed to all shareholders.

» the half-yearly report coniains summarised financial information and a review of the operations of the
consolidated entity during the period. The half-year reviewed financial report is lodged with the Australian
Securities and Investments Commission and the ASX, and sent to any shareholder who requests it.

» quarterly reports contain summarised financial information and a review of the operations of the
consolidated entity during the period. The quarterly reports are lodged with the ASX, and sent 1o any
shareholder who requests it.

s proposed major changes in the consolidated eatity which may impact on share ownership rights are
submitted to a vote of shareholders.

s all announcements made to the market are placed on the Company's website after they are released to the
ASX.

» the full texts of notices of meetings and associated explanatory material are placed on the Company's
website.

» the external auditor is requested to attend the annual general meetings to answer any guestions concerning
the audit and the coatent of the auditor’s report. All of the above information is made available on the

Company’s website as soon as possible after public release, and is emailed to all shareholders who lodge their
email contact details with the Company. Information on lodging email addresses with the Company are available
on the Company’s websife.

The Board encourages full participation of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, to ensure a high level of
accountability and identification with the consolidated entity’s strategy and goals. Emportant issues are presented to

the shareholders as single resolutions.

Copies of the Constitution are available 10 any shareholder who requests it.
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Locatinn Licence name Registered Licence Caspian Oil & Gas’s
Holder Number current equity
inferest

Kyrgyz

Republic _ Sulukta JSC Textonic HI'-124-01 100%%
Batken ISC Textonic HIC-123-01 100%
Katran ISC Textonic HI-126-G1 100%
Ak-Bura JSC Textonic HI-93-G] 100%%
Charvak ISC Texionic HI-50-01 100%
Ashvaz JSC Textonic HI-25-G1 100%
Aksai JSC Textonic HI-49-G1 100%
East Mailisu ISC Textonic HI'-175-062 100%
North Mailisu ISC Textonic HTE 91 100%
West Mailisu ISC Textonic HTi 99 100%

Note

Sanios International Operations Pty Ltd ("Santos"}) has the right to earn an 80% interest in all of the oil projects by
spending up to US$28 million onthem over approximately four years. There are two separate facets of the
proposed joint veature arrangement with Santos - a farmin to ali of the licences, focussing on the deeper potential,
and a farmin 1o the shallow potential of some of the northern Fergana licences subject to a review of those projects.

Sanios can incur staged expenditure of US%24 million as indicated below to earn an 80% interest in all of the
licences, excluding the shallow production potential down fo 1,000m depth on the northern Fergana licences of
Charvak, Ashvaz, East Maitisu and West Mailisu.

» Minimum expenditure of USE3 miillion by 31 December 2006 (Phase 1};
#  Minimum expenditure of US$6 million by 30 June 2008 (Phase 2); and
#  Minimum expendifure of US$15 million by 30 June 2009 {Phase 3).

At its sole discretion Santos may withdraw from the farm-in al the end of Phase | or end of Phase 2. 1f Santos
elects to withdraw before completing the USE24 million in expenditure it does not retain any equity in the oil
projects.

Santos will complete a feasibility study by 1 January 2606 to defermine whether it will participate in the
development of the shallow northern prospects {defined as to a depth of up to 1,000m at the Charvak, Fast Mailisu,
West Mailisu and Ashvaz licences). If it decides to proceed with the development, Santos must sole fund
expenditure of US$2 million by 31 December 2006 and a further USE2 million by 30 June 2068 o eam its 80%
equity.

Santos has the right to participate in futare share issues by the Company at the same price per share as other
participaats in order to maintain its percentage sharcholding in the Company. If Santos declines to participate in
future issues and consequently its percentage holding in the Company is diluted to less than 10%, then its right to
future participation ceases. 11s right also ceases if it withdraws from the farmin agreement.

62



Caspian Oil & Gas Limited

Mineral Concession Interests

Group Mineral Concession Enterests at 27 September 2005

Locatinn Concession name Registered File Caspian Off & Maximum Notes
and fype Holder Number Gas'’s equity interest
(or Applicant} current equity capuble of
interest beinyg earned
1
Ghana Kwatechi Tropical Exploration
Prospecting Licence and Mining Company
Linited PL3/64 67% N/A 2
Akim-Oda
Prospecting Licence Regimanuel Limited PL5/119 0% 80% 3
Osenase Leo Shield
Reconnaissance Exploration Ghana
Licence Limited RLS/12 90% N/A
Pramkese Leo Shield
Prospecting Licence Exploration Ghana
Application Limited NiA 90% N/A
Apam Obotan
Prospecting Licence Minerals Limited PL3/6T 0% 82% 4
Nsuaem Centrum Resources RL2/350 0% 82% 5
Reconnaissance Limited
Licence
Alwere Boanda Minconsulis RL2/357 0% 82% 5
Reconnaissance Limited
Licence
Guinea Mansounia Caspian Oil & Gas A2002/019/
Research Permit Limited DIGM/CPDM 78% 78% )
Democratic  Tshikapa Caspian 0il & Gas PR976-983
Republic of  Prospecting Licences Limited PR1755-1756 95% N/A
Congo
Notes

%]

The governments of African countries in which the Company operates are entitled to equity in mining
companies owning projects as follows — Ghana 10%, Guinea 15% and Democratic Republic of Congo 5%.
Caspian Oit & Gas's quoted equity is after allowance for that national interest, which oceurs when a new
project company is established prior 10 commencement of mining.

. Perseus Mining Limited, the current holder of a 16% interest, has the right to earn 60% out of the

Company’s 67% inferest in the property by funding the development of the project to profitable production.
In that case, the Company and the tenement owner will each retain a 7% interest which is convertible 1o a
1.25% net smelter royalty at the option of those parties withia 30 days of completion of a feasibility study.

The Company can earn an 80% interest by bringing the project to production. Caspian Oil & Gas and the
Vendor share equally the first US$600,000 ia surplus cash from produetion, then Caspian Oil & Gas
recovers the balance of expenditure by it on the project in priority io other distributions.

The Company can earn 82% equity in the project by completing a feasibility study and developing a mining
operation, with all exploration and development costs recoverable from production. US$20,606 is payable to
the tenement holder on taking a decigion to commence a mining operation.

The Company can earn 82% equity in the project by completing a feasibility study and developing a mining
operation, with all exploration and development costs recoverable from production. US$5,000 is payable to
the fenement holder on the conversion to a prospeciing ficence and a further US$20,060 is payabie to the
tenement holder on the granting of a mining lease.
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6. Under an arrangement with #s Guinean joint venture partners Caspian Oil & Gas is required to meet all
exploration expenditure uniii completion of a feasibility study and is entitled to a refund of that expenditure
from production. The Guinean partners may contribute to expeaditure from feasibility to maintain a 7%
equity or revert to a 3% net profit interest. The property is subject to a farm-in by Gold Fields Lid, who can
earn a 60% interest in the project by spending USE1.5 million on expleration. At that stage project equities
would be Caspian Oil & Gas 18%, Gold Fields 60%, local pariners 7% and Guinea Government 15%. Gold
Fields can elect 1o earn a further 8% from Caspian Gil & Gas by spending US36 midlion in total, or
completing a feasibility study.
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The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 27 September 2005.
Substantial Sharcholders

Holdings of substaniial shareholders as advised to the Company are set out below.

Name of Interest Holder Number of
Ordinary Shares

Santos Limited 146,000,000
J Walker 74,153,500
Insinger Brummby Trust (Labuan) SDN BHD, and Zentar Securities Ltd 71,153,500
Cadden Nominees Pty Lid and Hargrave Holdings Pty Litd 21,476,247
Distribution of Holders of Equity Securities

Size of Ordinary

Holding Shares
i to 1,060 30
1,001 to 5,000 295
5,001 10 10,000 296
16,001 to 106,000 594
100,001 and over 502

2,117

The number of shareholdings comprising less than a marketable parcel was 416.
Voting Rights

The voting righis attaching to ordinary shares are governed by the Constitution. On a show of hands every person
present who is a Member or representative of 2 Member shall have one vote and on a poll, every Member present in
person or by proxy or by attorney or duly authorised representative shall have one vote for each share held. None
of the options has any voting rights.

FTwenty Largest Shareholders as at 26 September 2005 Number of Shares % Held
Santos Limited 140,000,000 17.68
ANZ Nominees Limited 98,169,354 12.40
Bell Potter Nominees Lid 04,515,364 11.94
Ashling Development lncorporated 50,000,060 6.32
Citicorp Nominees Pty Lid 22,518,710 2.84
Naticnal Nominges Eimited 21,142,293 2.67
Zero Nominees Pty Lid 19,854,884 2.51
Serget Shestaey 18,127,659 2.29
Hargrave Holdings Pty Lid 13,657,250 1.73
Cadden Nominees Ptv Ltd 13,453,997 1.70
Karari Australia Pty Lid 10,000,000 1.26
Rowntry Trading Limited 8,553,560 1.08
Fairmount International Pty Ltd 8,500,040 1.67
Fairmount Superannuation Custodian Piy Lid 8,230,060 1.04
Neflco Nominees Pty Lid 4,300,060 0.54
HSBC Custody Nominees { Australia) Limited-GS1 ECSA 4,125,060 0.52
Irrewarra Invesimenis Pty Ltd 4,000,060 0.51
Greporach Py Lid 3,901,667 0.4%
Anastasia Panagakis 3,610,060 0.46
Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 3,049,833 0.39

549,729,711 69.44
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Unguoted Options

Ungquoted options on issue at 26 September 2005 were as follows:

Refer
Note
]

2

%]

5

Number of
Options
6,406,006

3,600,600

2,606,000
4,606,000

20,060,060

Exercise Price

10 cents

4 or 5 cents

5 cents

5 cents

5 cenis

Exercise Periods/ Expiry Dates

From 1 December 2603 to 38
December 2005

Exercisable at 4 cents up to 31
December 2003 or at 5 cents each
if exercised from 1 January 2006
to 31 December 2086,

From 1 June 2005 to 31
December 2007

From 1 September 2005 to 31
March 2008

On or before 30 November 2007

Number of
Holders
11

1

I3

The names of the holders of 20% or more options in these unguoted securities are listed below:

Note

= i b —

LA e e

Name Number of %o of Options Held
Options Held

M A Calderwood 2,506,000 39.06%
Far East Capital Limited 3,000,060 100%
M) Sandy & Associates 2,606,000 1H00%
Pty Lid

M1 Sandy & Associates 2,006,000 50%
Py Lid

A Sinelnikov 2,606,000 50%
R Feldt 7,604,000 33%
P Geraths 6,600,000 30%
Flement & Associates 4,000,000 2004
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